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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT

The Directors present the Strategic Report for Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Business Review

Total revenue generated, in reported currency, for the year, was £844m (2021: £540m). This impravement has been the continued
recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and the continued relaxation of remaining travel restrictions in different jurisdictions. This has
been reflected in the increase in tota! hotel revenue in the reported currency of £753m (2021: £418m), which has been driven by the
increase in avarage room rates to £126 (2021: £80) and accupancy increase to 6§5% (2021: 52%).

Pre-tax profit for the year incrcased by £730m, to LB4Um (2021 £50rm). This has been driven by the gain on disposal of Millennium
Hilton Seoul and the on going recovery from COVID 19 and resultant increased appetite for travel.

The net asset value (NAV) for the Group increased lo £3.845m (2021, £3,275m). This has been driven by the gain on the disposal of
Millennium Hilton Seoul and the deconsolidation of COLHT.

Key Performance Indicators
We use a set of carefully selected key performance indicators (“KPIs") to manitor cur success. These KPls are used to measure the
Group's progress year-on-year against those strategic priorities:

+ Growth To achieve profitable growth and improved asset returns for our hospitality business.

To ensure a sound financial base in order to provide a sclid platform for the development and growth of the
Group.

To ensure costs remain in line with revenue moverments through a decentralised model, technological
enhancements to drive efficiencies and rigorous monitoring of spending.

» Financial Leverage

+ CostControl

Measure . 2022 2021 Basis for calculation
:Jz:nue per avalable £81 £42 Average room rate x Annual occupancy percentage.
| s e e
Hotel revenue £753m £418m :—:r\‘ffel:?se;)rr?hoen.;e;oréd & beverage and meetings &
Average room rate £126 £80 2;;?:; Jof; l'st?.:::sy :;:ided by the number of room
Gearing (1%]) 25% Net cash/(debt) over total equity for the year.

Total cash and cash equivalents less the interest-
Net Cash/(Debt) £50m £(824)m |bearing loans, bonds and bomrowings. Refer to note
19 for further details.

Operating Profit £788m £56m Qperating profit for the year.

Proﬁ_t before tax £840m £50m Profit before tax for the year.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Graup recognises that risk management is crucial in order for management to make well informed business decisions, minimising
impact of various risks and optimising opportunities. The Group is cormmitted o maintaining risk management practices as an infegral
part of the business and cperations. The Group will continue to proactively monitor developments, the prevailing risk, exposure and
adapt accordingly.

The Group's Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework has been developed by reference to and alignment with global best
practices including International Organisation for Standardisation (1ISO) 31000:2018, 1SO 27001 Information Security Management
System, Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS), OSHA standards, the EU General Data Prolection Regulation, the
UK Bribery Act 2010 and other similar guidelines. The framewoark consists of faur key pillars that serve as the foundation of the Group's
execution and implementation of its ERM programme. These pillars include risk strateqy, risk culture, risk governance and sk appetite,
all of which are further supported by systematic risk processes. The directors look to adopt a proactive risk management approach that
aims to safeguard the interests of the business and our stakeholders through the early identification and management of risks to
minimise their impact and reduce uncertainties.

Market risk — Campetition and sector evolution

Competition in the hotel industry is increasing as the sector continues to consolidate and the growth of alternative business models, such
as sharing econamy platforms like Airbnb, also are impacting supply and demand dynamics within the industry. Online travel agencies,
such as Booking.com and Expedia.com, which compete against direct bocking channels, are taking market share and influence
consumer preference.



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)

To mitigate these risks, the Group is aggressively managing its portfolio of distribution channel partners, including established online
ravel agencies and new, miche or local players, to optimise revenue, gain access to new custamers and minimise commission costs.
This 1s coupled with the diverse nature of the portfolic, both geographically and in respect of its breadth of brands. The Group maintains
a flexible operating structure that allows it to align its sales and marketing activities and adapt to changing hospitality trends.

Finance risk — Foreign currency and borrowing

The Group operates in numerous Jurisdictions and trades in various international currencies and the reporting currency is pound steriing.
Fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates may he either accretive or dilutive to the Group’s reported trading results and
net asset value.

Hotels generally require significant capital expenditure at regular intervals in order to remain competitive and real estate assets, labour
and other operating expenses can be significant. The Group may need to borrow funds from time to time to cover these capital
expenditures and waorking capital requirements, where unhedged or rising interesl rates may result in increased borrowing costs and
impact the Group's profits.

Foreign exchange risk is mitigated as the exposure is primarily managed through the funding of purchases and repayment of borrowings
from income generated in the same cumency crealing a natural hedge. The Group's Treasury team monitor and address treasury
matters, including the Group's borrowing headroom and borrowing requirements, in accordance with the Group's treasury policy and
conducts business with a diversified set of lenders. The Group generally does not borrow on a secured basis, its real estate assets could
serve as significant coilateral should secured borrowings be required in the future.

Health and safety risk — Non-compliance and risk of injury

The health, safety and security of guests, visitors and employees is a fundamental expectation and there is a breadih of regulatory
requirements across different jurisdictions relating to health and safety matters. Failure to implement and maintain sufficient controis
regarding health and safety issues could result in serious injury or loss of life. lead 1o regulatory investigations and expose the Group to
significant claims, sanctions or fines, as well as reputational damage.

To ensure the health and safety of our key stakeholders, the Group has a health, safety and environmental management system in
place, which include palicies, procedures, testing, self and third-party audits, training and reporting. Management proactively seeks to
identify emerging risks at the earliest opportunity to ensure clear roles and responsibilities are defined and internal controls function to
mitigate risk. The wetl-betng of the Group's guests, colieagues and other stakeholders is one of its top oriorities. Robust precautionary
measures, including an enhanced cleaning and sanitisation programme, help ensure that Group’s hotels and corporate offices remain
safe places to visit.

IT infrastructure risk - infrastructure, process and data

Increasing reliance on transactions over the internet and mobile applications, and the aggregation and storage of guest and other
information electronically present heightened risks of attacks affecting the operation of our systems and a potential [0ss or misuse of
confidential, personal and/or proprietary information. The hospitality sector in particular is becoming a more frequent target for
cyberattacks as hotel companies often handle large volumes of customer's personal data. The occurrence of a cyber attack or loss of
custorners personal data could result in litigation, reputational damage, monetary damages and disruption to the normal course of
business.

The Group's regional IT teams conduct penadic security and penetration testing. The Group's software systems are regularly upcated
with the latest secunty updates and patches to be installed. In the event of an (T security event, regicnal (T teams have deveioped
disaster recovery plans for their high-priority systems and tesis are conducted on select mission-cntical systems annually to venfy their
recoverability offsite. Whare the Group outsources critical information technology systems, it is ensured that suppliers exceed industrial
standards to ensure maximurn effectiveness and safety is maintained.

Statement under section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006
In accordance with Section 172(1)(a) to (f) of the Companies Act 2006 {"Section 172(1) Statement"), the dwractors set out their Section
172(1) Statement below.

The directors understand their duties under Section 172 of the Comgpanies Act 2006 and more specifically, their duty ta act in the way
each director considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promete the success of the Group for the benefit of its members as a
whole This is defined under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 by the following areas which have been reviewed individually:

(a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

(b} the interests cf the Company's employees;

{c) the need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

(d) the impact of the Company's operations on the community and the environment;

(e) the desirabllity of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
{f} the need to act fairly as between members of the Campany.
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STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)

Consequences of any decision in the long term

The Directors are committed to the significance of the views and opinions of the key stakeholders of the Group when making decisions
for the long-term strategy and success of the Group. This is shown through the value and engagement placed on the key stakeholders of
the Company and Group 10 @nsura synergy between the Group and the key stakeholders.

Interests of the Group’s employees

The Directors recognise that the company's employees are a valued asset of the Group as they serve as key brand ambassadors, are
critical to front-line service delivery and have the ability to create a unique and memorable experience of customers. To ensure good
employee engagement and build a collaborative and supportive environment, the company ensures that good training and development
is provided, yood internal communications are maintained Hunough penodic newsletters and employee intranet and good recruitment and ’
induction. This is at the forefront of the Group's ethos.

The Group's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others

The Directors understand that nurturing and maintaining good relationships with key stakeholders, customers, and suppliers is a key
driver to sustanable growth and long-term success. Customers are the lifebload of the business and are valued very highly and the
Group endeavours to provide the customer with a unique experience in a friendly, clean and accommaodating enviranment. By doing this
it is recognised that maintaining good relations with suppliers is critical so that quality products and services provided to customers are
maintained. This is done by engaging with suppliers and ensuring the development of good business relationships, meeting sustainable
sourcing requirements and fair price and payment terms.

impact of the Group's operations an the community and the environment

The Directors recagnise the role of the Group in the community and the surrounding eavironment by ensuring that there is a continued
and concerted effort to ensure processes are efficient, sustainable and with the least impact on the environment as possible. The Group
participates in support for chartable organisations, and participation in local outreach programs to ensure that the Group acts as a_good
corporate citizen,

Desirability of the Group to maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct

The Directors value the reputation and high standards that are required to cperate in this business sector. It is recognised that
maintaining the Group's reputation for high standards and corporate responsibility. This is done through ensuring complete compliance
with legai requirements, developing a respectful culture and leading by example through good corporate governance.

To act fairly as between members of the Group

The directors are committed to ensuring a fair, transparent, and accountable relationship with the members of the Group, This is
achieved through clear investor communication, general meeting and clear financial data in the form or audited financial statements.

The Strategic Report was approved by the Board of Directors of the Group on 02 August 2023 and signed on its behalf by

Kwek Eik Sheng
Director



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their annual report and financial statements for the Group and Company for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic report

The Strategic Report is found on pages 2 to 4. Pursuant to the Companies Act 2008, that report must provide a fair review of the Group's
business, together with a description of the principal nsks and uncerainties facing the Group. It includes an analysis of the development
and performance of the Group's business during the year and the pasition of its business at the end of the year, as well as descnption of
the Group's strategy and business model.

Board of Directors
The names of those who served as a Director of the Company during the course of the 2022 financial year, up to the date of this report,

include:

Kwek Leng Beng
Kwek Eik Sheng
Jonathan Grech

Jonathan David Ashcroft {resigned 23 June 2023)
Catherine Wu {appeointed 11 July 2022)
Al Hamad Ah Lakhraim Alzaabi (appointed 11 July 2022
David Kien Hassan (appointed 11 July 2022)
Alexander Richard Jason Wade (appeointed 11 July 2022)
Anthony Grahame Potter (appointed 12 July 2023)

Going Concern
The measures adopted by the Directors in 2022 in arder to further reduce costs and optimise the Group's cash flow and liquidity have
enabled the Group ta offset the impact of rising inflation.

Despite the uncertainty caused by high levels of inflation and associated risks, the Group continues to prepare its accounts on a going
concern basis given that trading has improved significantly in recent months across the globai estates with many hotels returning to pre-

pandemic levels.

Having reviewed cash farecasts and the available committed debt facilities, the Directors have a reasonable expectaton that the Group
and Company have adequate resources including external credit facilities to continue in operational existence up to at least 31
December 2024. Accordingly, they centinue to adopt the going concemn basis in preparing the financial statements of the Group and the
Company. Please refer to note 2.1 for further information.

Dividends
The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £Nil).

Political donations and expenditure

No donations were made by the Group for political purposes and the Group did nat incur any political expenditure during the year (2021.
£Nil). The Group operates a politically neutral policy with regard to any pclitical donations and expenditures it may elect to make.

Financial instruments
An indication of the Group's financial risk management objectives and policies in respect of the use of financial instruments and
exposure of the Group te price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk are set out below.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investment securities.

Exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis, with credit checks performed on all clients requiring credit over certain
amounts. Credit is not extended beyond authorised limits, established where appropriate through consultation with a professional credit
vetting organisation. Credit granted is subject to regular review, lo ensure it remains consistent with the client’s current craditwarthiness
and appropriate to the anticipated volume of business.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's approach to

managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the
Group's income or the value of its haldings of financial instruments. The primary objectives of the treasury function are to provide secure
and competitively priced funding for the activities of the Graup and to identffy and manage financial risks.



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on revenue, purchases, barrowings and cash deposits denominated in currencies other
ihan the functiona! currencies of the respective Group enlities. The Group's principal paolicy, wherever possible, is to maintain a naturat
hedge whereby liabilities are matched with assets denominated in the same currency. Fareign cumrency investment exposure is aiso
minimised by barrowing in the currency of the investment Ta mitigate foreign currency translation expasure, an apprapriate propaortion of
net assets are designated as hedged against corresponding financial liabilities 1n the same currency.

Interest rate risk and jnterest rate swaps

i he roup adopts a policy of ongoing review of its exposure to changes in interest rates on its borrowings, taking into account market
expectations with regard to the perceived level of risk associated with each currency, the maturity profile and cash flows of the underlying
debt, and the exient to which debt may potentially be either prapaid prior to its maturity or refinanced at reduced cost.

The Group's policy is to maintain a mixture of its financial liabilities on a fixed and Aoating-rate basis with a greater emphasis on floating
rates presently as this fiexibility is considered to be appropriate in the context of the Group's overall geographical diversity, investment
and business cycle and the stability of the income streams, cash balances and loan covenants.

Employment of disabled persons

We highty value the rich diversity of our colleagues around the world. As of the end of 2022, the Group operated in over 25 countries and
empioyed approximately 6 441 employees worldwide, The Group is an equal opportunity employer and has an objective to ensure that
no employee or other worker or job applicant receives less favourable treatment, directly or indirectly, on the grounds of age, disability,
gender reassignment, marital or civil partner status, pregnancy or maternity, race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin, religion or
belief, sex or sexual origntation.

Engagement with suppiiers, customers and others in a business relationship with the Group

As a Group operating in the hospitality industry, the directors are aware of the need for the Group to remain compatitiva and for our
hotels to address the wants and needs of our customers. Ta this end, the Group is continually looking for ways to engage with and
better understand our guests. Indeed, several of the Group’s principal risks-including the risks pertaining to hotel demand, operational
efficiency and health and safety-focus in part on the relationship of the Group with its customers and other stakeholders.

Employee involvement and engagement with employees

As a Group, we highly value our employees as the driving force behind every aspect of our business, including guest-facing roles,
ancillary and supporting roles, and administration roles. Our employees play a crucial role in delivering exceptional services to our
guests, guaranteeing a memorable and consistently high standard of service. Mareover, they contribute to cultivating a prafessional,
efficient, inclusive, and friendly environment for gueslts and colleagues alike.

The Group's aims to maximise employee engagement by keeping employees informed about matters of concern to them, through
management presentations, updates from regional and functional heads, regional intranet sites and other communication. Over the
course of the year, these efforts included regular meetings at the regional, functional and hotel Jevels, as weil as exit interviews with
departing colleagues. These meelings allowed the management team to communicate imporiant updates throughout the waorkforce,
provide training on exisling and new policies and procedures and hear from colleagues around the warld.

We are fully committed to supporting our empioyees by praviding them with the necessary resources, continuous training, and benefits
10 ensure their satisfaction and well-being. Through our employee benefil schemes and tailored training programs, the Group strives to
enhance their skills and knowledge, allowing them to excel in their specific roles within our organisation and the broader Group

community.

Central to our approach is the inslillation of our core values, shown below, into every employee, guiding their actions and decision-
making. By upholding these values, we foster a sense of unity, purpose, and integrity throughout our workforce, promoting a positive and
productive work culture.

= Wil to win - The will to be successful both personally ang as a Group as a whale in the pursuit of targets and objectives.

«  Guest focus - Unparalieled service and guest experience provided by our employees and services,

= Openness in communication - Clear and supportive communication between all levels of the Group.

<«  Tearnwork - Collaborative and coherent working between all teams within the group.

« Innovation and creativity - Tailor made solutions and the ability to introduce new ideas, processes and methods into praclice.

+ Think blue ocean bahaviour - Innovative, anticipative and divergent thinking approach to targets, performance, growth
and teamwork.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting

This section discioses our UK operational energy consumption, carbon footprint, and energy efficiency initiatives for the year ended 31

Dacember 2022 in line with the UK Government's Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting ['SECR') legislation.

GHG Emissions and
Energy Use

2022

2021

Enargy consumption used to
calculate emissions in
Kilowatt-hours {(kWh)

Gas: 54,488,636 kWh

Diesel. Nil kWh

Electricity: 36,561,390 kwh

District Heating: 751,589 kwWh
Company-Owned Transport. Nil kWh
Employee-Owned Transport 114,925 kWh

Total: 91,916,541 kWh

Gas: 36,214,810 kWh

Diesel: 3,946 kWh

Electricity: 21,072,238 XWh

District Heating: Nil kWh
Caompany-Owned Transport: 6394 kWh
Employee-Qwned Transport: 13,132 kWh

Total: 57,310,520 kWh

Emissions from combuslion
of gas in ICO,e
(Scope 1)

9,946.4 1CO,e

6,633 tICOze

Emission from combustion of
diesel in 1COe
(Scope 1)

N/A

0.9 1CCse

Emissions from business
trave! in company ewned
vehicles in tCO,e

(Scope 1)

N/A

1.5 ICOe

Emissions from purchased
electricity in (CO.e
{Scope 2, location-based)

7070.21CO@

4,474 1COe

Emissiens from purchased
district heating in tCOze
(Scope 2, location-based)

128.3 1CO%€

NiA

Emissions from business
travel in rantal cars or
emptayee-owned vehicles
where company is
responsible for purchasing
the fuet in tCOqe

{Scope 3)

.

28.9tCOze

3.2 €O

Totat gross 1CO.e based on
above

17,171.8 1C0O e

11,113 tC04e

intensity ratio: gross (CQOqe f
room

4.21COze

2.6 WC0se

Methodology

The methodology used lo calculate ousr GHG emissions and energy use is the GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard, using the operational control appreach on reporting boundaries. The data has been calculated using v2.0 DEFRA conversion
factors for each repotting year.

As the data was collected in December 2022, data for quarter 4 of 2022 was based on actual data for quarter 4 of 2021, it has been
assumed that there were similar emissions in each quarter as there were no significant changes to hotel operation between guarer 4
2021 and quarter 4 2022. This enabied us 1o report verifiable data for the 2022 calendar year in advance of our reporting deadlines.

For any estimates included in our totals, we have used the emissions per room average for the UK region.

Enargy officient actions
This year we have continued efforts to reduce energy consumption across our UK estate. Progress in 2022 included:

« Installation of naw bhoilers

» Ongoing LED tnstallation

« Upgrading of Air Handting Units

« Upgrading of bell driven pumps to direct drive pumps
« Upgrading of pumps to more efficient models

The Group's greenhouse gas emissions and energy consumption will continue to be reparted in its Corporate Responsibility Report,
located at https:/investors.millenniumhotels.com/corporate-responsibility.
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Future developments
The Group will build upon its performance by increasing the efficiency of the internal processes and functions.

Research and development

Whilst the management team continues lo review ways to improve the Group's service, brand and product offerings, and regularly (nvest
in our people and assets, the Group did not conduct significant research and development activities during the year.

Statement of corporate governance
The Group is indirectly whoily owned and controlied by CDL, through various CDL subsidiary companies. CDL, which is listed on the
Singapore Exchange, is, in turn, considered to be controlled by Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd.

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised of 8 directors, consisting of 3 executive directors and five non-executive directors. Mr
Kwek Leng Beng has served as the Chairman of the Group since it was initially listed in 1996, and as an executive director since 2020.

Mr Kwek Eik Sheng served as an executive director, while Mr Jonathon Grech and Mr David Ashcroft served as non-executive directors
in 2022. On 11 July 2022, Mr Alexander Wade, Dr Catherine Wu and Mr Ali Alzaabi were appointed as non-executive directors, while Mr
David Hassan was appointed as an executive director.

Mr. David Ashcroft resigned from the Board on 23 June 2023. Following a vetting process, Dr. Anthony Potier was appointed to the
Board on 12 July 2023.

The vision of the Directors is to be the leading global hospitality real estate ownership group for gateway cities, with effective, in-built and
unique asset management skills, Qur commitment is 1o hospitality and creating memorable experiences in distinctive environments.
We strive to recognize not only the faces of our guests but also their individual needs and desires.

To do this, we will need to deliver outstanding service, quality, originality and value to our customers by employing and developing the
besi peaple and by having a challenging and forward-thinking business culture. Fundamentally, we treat our guests, employees and
other stakeholders with respect and integrity.

In 2023, the Board intends to review the ways in which the purpose and values are embedded throughout the crganisation. As part of
this review, the Board will continue to examine the culture of the Group and will seek to reinforce a culture of accountability where
employees take into account the views of, and are responsible to, the Group's stakeholders, including our guests and customer, other
employees, suppliers, the communities in which we operate. ’

When assessing a potential business opportunity, in addition to assessing whether it is aligned with the strategic priorities of the Group
and its impact on the Group's stakeholders, the Board members and executive management team also consider the risks associated
with the opportunity and whether it is likely to create and preserve value over the long term. The diectors understand that whilst the
Group must remain nimble and entreprenaurial to tackle the challenges facing the Group and industry more generatly, the directors atso
are keenly aware that the Group must operate in a sustainable manner in order to be successful.

Company Branches
The Company did not have any branches operating cutside of the UK during the year.

Statement of the directors as to disclosure of information to the auditor
In accordance with Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006, each Oirector who held office at the date of approval of this Directors
Report confirms that:

So far as lhey are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and

They have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware of any

relevant audit information and to establish that the Group's auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor
Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006. the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG LLP will therefore continye

in office.

The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 02 August 2023.

On bel;lalf of the Board

Kwek Eik Sheng
Director

Corporate Headquarters
Scarsdale Place
Kensington

London

W8 58Y
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ANNUAL REPORT AND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, the director's report and the group and parent company financial
stalements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
they have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards and
applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and
applicable law (UK Gererally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of the Group's profit or loss for that period  In preparing each of the Group and
parent Company financial statements, the directors are required to.

Select syitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

Make judgements and estimates that are reasconable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

For the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards;

For the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been foitowed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

Assess the group and parent company's ability te continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern; and

Use the gaing concem basis of accounting unless they either intend lo liquidate the group or the parent company or te
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the paren company and enable them to ensure
that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal controls as they determine are
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and
detect fraud and cther irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company's
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legistation in other
jurisdictions.

On behalf pf the Board

Kweék Eik Sheng
Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE
HOTELS LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited {“the Company”) for the year ended 31st December
2022 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income, the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the
Company Statement of Financial Position, the Company Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes, including the accounting
policies in note 2.2 of the Group Financial Statements and Note B of the Company Financial Statements.

In cur opinion:

+ The financial statements give a ‘rue and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs as at 31
December 2022 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

« The Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards;

= The parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK aceounting standards,
including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

« Thefinancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)'} and applicable ‘aw. Our
responsibilities are described below. We have fulfiled cur ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have abtained is a
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going Concern

The directors have prepared the firancial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the Group or the
Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Group and the Company'’s financial position means that this
1s realistic They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to
continue as a geing concern for al least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the gaing concern period”)

(n our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group's business model and analysed how those
risks might affect the Group and Company's financial resources or ability to cantinue operations over the going cancern period.

Qur conclusions based on this work:

*+  We consider that the directors’ use of tha going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate.

+  We have not identified, and concur with the directors’ assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group or the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent
with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that the Group or the
Company will continue in cperation. .

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations - ability to detect

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks") we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive or
pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Qur risk assessment procedures included:

+  Inquiry of directors, management and key personnel along with inspection of policy documentation in relation to the
Group's entity-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud. This included inspection of the Group’s
Whistleblowing report, as well as direct inquiry whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

* Review of the internal audit reports.

*  Review of Board minutes.

+  Performing walkthroughs and obtaining understanding of key processes.

»  Consideration of remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for directors.

= Using analytical procedures to identify any usual movements or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughoul the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout the audit.
This included communication of the relevant fraud risks identified at the Group level to all in-scope audit ieams, and a request 10 these
tearns to report back 1o the Group audit teamn should any instances of fraud that could give rise to a material misstatement at group.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE
HOTELS LIMITED (continued)

As required by auditng standards, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls. We performed
procedures including:
-« Testing the design and implementation of contrgls relating to manual journal entry postings.
= Test high risk journal entries (as determined by the engagement team), including select entries made throughout the
period.

On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because Revenue transactions are typically not
complex and revenue recognition, which in most cases is linked direclly to bookings through various channels, requires minimal
judgement.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due (o non-compliance with laws and Regqulations

The Group is subject 10 laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial reporting legislation and
taxation legisiation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the retaled
financial statement items.

In addition, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a material
effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of fines or litigation.

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a malerial effect on the financial statements from
our general and sector exparience, and through discussion with the directors and other management {as required by auditing standards),
and discussed with the directors and other management ihe policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.
We identified the following areas where non-compliance could have a more material effect: heaith and safety reguiations, empioyment
law and anti-bribery and cofruption legislation acknowledging the Group's business activities.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance
throughout the audit. This included communication from the group to full-scope component audit leams of relevant laws and regulations
identified at the Group level, and a request for full scope component auditors to report o the group team any instances of noncompliance
with laws and regulations that could give rise to a material misstaterment at group.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures fo identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the
directars and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if a breach of operational
regulations is not disclosed to us ar evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Canitext of the ability of the audit to detec! fraud or breaches af law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material misstatements in
the finarcial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed cur audit in accordance with auditing standards. For
example, tha further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controts. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement.
We are not respansible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and carnot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and
regulations

Strategic report and directors’ report
The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
lhose reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial
slatements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit
knowledge. Based solely oh that work:

+  We have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors' report;

« Inour opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and

*+  In our opinion those reports have been prepared in accardance with the Companies Act 2006.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE
HOTELS LIMITED (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

+  Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, ar retums adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

«  The parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

*  Certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

*  We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

We have nothing to report in thesea respects.
Directors' responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for. the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal cantrol as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from materia! misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. assessing the Group and parent
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend fo liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease cperations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do sa.

Auditor's responsibility

Qur objectives are to abtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report. Reasonable assurance is a high leve! of
assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when 1t exists. Misstatements can arse from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to them in
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this repori, or for the opinions we have formed.

Andese S s

Andrew Simpson {Senicr Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

Londen

E14 5GL

02 August 2023
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Notes
£m £m
Revenue 5 844 540
Cast of sates {365) (255)
Gross profit 479 285
Administrative expenses 8 (408) (308)
Other gperating income 7 712 £5
Other operating expense 7 3 14
Opaerating profit 788 56
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 13 53 17
Finance income 58 15
Finance expense (59) {38)
Net finance expense 9 {1) (23)
Profit before tax 5 840 50
Income tax (charge)/credit 10 {286) 39
Profit for the year 554 89
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 533 73
Non-centrolling interests 219 16
554 89

The financial resulits above derive from continuing activities.
The nates on pages 18 - 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MILLENNIUM B COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
NOTE
£m £m
Profit for the year 554 89
Other comprehensive income:
Items that are not reclassified subsequently to income statement:
Remeasurement of defined henefit plan aciuarial net gains, net of tax a1 8 2
8 2
Items that may be reclassified subsequently tc income statement:
Foreign currency translation differences — foreign operations 166 (44)
Foreign currency translation differences — equity accounted investees 34 12
Net gain on hedge of net investments in foreign operations (6) ()}
Exchange differences reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of business of foreign 90 )
operations
284 (33)
Other comprehensive incomel/{expense) for the year, net of tax 292 (31
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 846 58
Total comprehensive income attributable to: ,
Equity holders of the parent 304 31
Non-controlling interests 42 27
846 58

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

The notes on pages 18 - 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHCRNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2022

NOTES 2022 2021
£m £m
Non-current assets
Property, piant and equipment 11,36 2,624 3,287
investment properties 12, 36 551 700
Investment in joint ventures and associates 13 797 465
Other financial assets 14 477 26
Deferred tax assets 24 - 5
4,449 4,483
Current assets
Inventories 15 4 5
Development properties 16 119 109
Trade and other receivables 17 176 a3
Cash and ¢ash equivalents 18 561 390
860 587
Assets held for sale 35 9 17
869 604
Total assets 5318 5,087
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans, bonds and borrowings 19 {227 (674)
Employee benefits 21 (1) (13)
Provisions 22 {10) (9
Other non-current liabilities 23 {15) (38)
Lease liabilities 36 (410) (131)
Deferred tax liabilities 24 (190) (77)
(856) (942)
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans, bonds and borrowings 19 (264) (540Q)
Trade and other payables 25 (217} (262)
Provisions 22 (51} (43}
{.ease liabilities 36 (12} (4)
Income taxes payable (53) 21)
(617) (870)
Total liakilitles {1,473} {1.812)
Net assets 3,845 3.275
Equity
Issued share capital 27 97 a7
Share premium 842 843
Translation reserve 28 658 392
Treasury share reserve 2B (4) (4)
Fair value resefrve 28 - -
Retained earnings 2,029 1,364
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 3,620 2,892
Naon-controlling interests 2285 583
Total equity 3,845 3,275

The notes on pages 18 - 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors an 02 August 2023 and were signed on its behalf by.

Kwek Eik Sheng
Director

Registered No: 03004377
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
NOTES
Em Em

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 554 B9
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 11 &9 75
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 13 (53) (17)
Other operating income 7 (712) (65)
Other operating expense 7 (3) (14)
Finance income 9 {58) {15)
Finance expense 9 59 38
Income tax charge/(credit) 10 286 {39)
Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 142 52
Movement in inventories, trade and other receivables 15,17 (50) {21)
Movement in development praperties 18 {8} {7}
Movement in trade and other payables 25 58 102
Cash generated from operations 142 126
Interest paid (18} {19)
interest received 14 2
income tax paid (148} (16)
Net cash {used in)/generated from operating activities {10} 93
Cash flows from investing activities
Diwvidends received from joint ventures and associates 13 10 2
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and investment properties (net af 752 10
expenses)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary (net of expenses) 53 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (22} -
Acquisition and additions of property, plant and equipment and investment properties 11,12 (41) (88)
Net cash generated fromi(used in) investing activities 762 {56)
Cash flows from financing activities
Loan to intermediate holding company 14 (486) -
Repayment of borrowings {375) {467}
Drawdown of borrowirgs 250 501
Payment of lease liabilities 36 {20) (10)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {(10) {15)
Return of capital to non-controlling interests {5) {7)
Net (used in)/generated from financing activities {646) 2
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 106 39
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 18 390 350
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 65 1
Cash and cash eguivalents at end of the year 561 390
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
(ash and cash equivalents shown in the consolidated statement of financial position 18 561 390
Bank overdrafts included in borrowings - -
Cash and cash equivalents for consolidated statement of cash flows 18 561 390

The notes on pages 18 - 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Reporting entity
Millenniurm & Copthome Hotels Limited (the “Company”) is a private company incorporated in England and Wales. The registered office
is located at Carporate Headguarters, Scarsdale Place, Kensington, London W8 55Y, United Kingdom.

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group’) The consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 were autharised for issue in accordance with a resolution of
the Directors on 02 August 2023.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment properties, denvative financial
instruments, equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") and equity investments at fair value
through profit and loss ("FVTPL") which are stated at their fair values. Hotel properties are stated at cost or deemed cost. Deemed cost
is calculated based on the hotel's frozen valuation as at 1 January 2004. Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less cosls to sell. The Group's income stalement and segmental analysis separately identifies operating
profit and other operating income and expense. This is in accordance with 1AS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’ and is
consistent with the way that financial performance is measured by management and assists In proviging a meaningful analysis of the
trading results of the Group The financial statements are presented in the Company’s functional currency of sterling, rounded to the
nearest million.

The Company has elected to prepare its parent company's financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
‘Reduced Disclosure Framewoark'.

Basis of accounting

The Group's financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with international accounting
standards and in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards ("UK-adopted IFRS"). The Company has elected to
prepare its financial statements in accordance with FRS 101; these are presented on pages 74 to 77.

Adoption of new and revised standards
There were no new accounting standards issued and adopted by the Group during the current year.

Basis of consolidation

(B Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when i ts exposed ta, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability 1o affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control

ceases.

{i) Interests in equity-accounted investees
The Group's interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in joint ventures and associates.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence but not contrel or joint control, over the financial and operating
paiicies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint controt, and where the Group has rights to the net assets of the
arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in joint ventures and assaciates are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognised at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consclidated financial statements include the Group's share of the
profit or loss and other comprahensive income of equity-accounted invastees, until the date on which significant influence or joint

control ceases.

(iii} Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investmaent to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there

is no evidence of impairment.

Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likety to affect its future development, parformance and position are set out in
the Strategic Repart on page 2 to 4. Nate 20 of the financial statements includes the Group’s objeclives, policies and processes for
managing its capital; its financial risk management objeclives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities and its

exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The measures adopted by the directors in 2022 in order to further reduce costs and optimise the group's cash flow and liquidity have
enabled the group to offset the impact of rising inflation. These mitigating actions include reducing capital expenditure through
postponing or pausing refurbshment and properly development activities, tight monitoring of manpower planning, monitoring of
controllable variable expenses and negotiation of discounts with suppliers. These initiatives will continue to support the Group's
recovery.

It is noted that the Group has a limited fixed cost based due to owning the majority of its hote! properties which is a major advantage in
this industry.

Despite the uncertainty caused by high levels of inflation and associated risks, the Group continues to prepare its accounts an a going
concern basis given that trading has improved significantly in recent months across the giobal estates with many hotels returning to pre-
pandemic levels.

Cashflow forecasts have been prepared for a period of eighteen months from the date of approval of the financial statements. The
directors confinue to review and adapt these cashflow forecasts in the light of the changing circumstances associated with the high
levels of inflation and other business nisks. These forecasts include downside scenario assumptions such as restrictions on the renewal
of loan facilities during the period or fatlure to dispose of assets held for sale whilst still incurring significant capital improvement costs.

Having reviewed the forecasts and the available committed debt facilities, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group
and Company have adequate resources including externat credit facilities to continue in cperational existence up lo at least 31
December 2024 Accordingty, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the Group and the
Company.

22 Summary of significant accounting policies
The Group has consistently abnlied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

A Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For
each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. Acguisition costs incurred are expensed and identifiable net assets acquired are
measured at the acquisition date fair value.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilites assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisilion date fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at that gate through the income statement.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. if an obligation to pay contingent consideration that
meets the definition of 2 financial instrument is classified as equity. then it is not remeasured, and settiement is accounted for within
equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the Group's net identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed and is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
the combination. If the consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised in the ncome statement.

After initial recognition, goodwili is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is. from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that
are expected to benefit from the combination, imespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned 10 those
urits.

Where goodwill has been aliocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the cperation when determining the gain or loss on
disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

B Foreign currency

The financial statements of each of the Group's businesses are prepared n the functional currency applicable to that business.

19




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(i) Foreign currency transiation
Transactions in foreign currencies other than the functional currency are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the

transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated into sterling at the foreign
exchange rate at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign cummency are transialed at the date of the transaction.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into sterting at foreign
exchange rates ruling at the date the fair value was determined.

(i) Financiali statemants of foreign opaerations

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including fair value adjustments arising on consalidation, are translated
to sterfing at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated
to sterling al rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences
arising on retranslation are recognised directly in equity in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign cperation is
disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the translation reserve is transferred to the income statement.

(iii) Net investment in foreign operations

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign aperations, and of related hedges are taken to
translation reserve. They are released into the income statement upon disposatl or partial disposal of the foreign operation.

c Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial insiruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures. Derivatives are initially
measured al fair value; any directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incumred. Subsequent 1o initial
recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are generally recognised in profit or loss.

o} Hedges
(1] Cash flow hedges

When a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or a
highly probable transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity.
When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financiat asset or non-financial liabllity, the associated
cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or
liability. If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, then the
associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified to the income statement in the same period or
periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects the income statement {i.e. when intergst income or expense is

recognised).

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the above policy, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects profit or loss. The
ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, cr the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship but
the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that poirt remains in equity and is recognised in
accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs.

if the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, then the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is
recognised immediately in the income statement.

{ii) Hedge of monetary assets and liabilities

When a derivative financial instrument is used as an economic hedge of the forgign exchange exposure of a recognised monetary asset
ar liability, hedge accounting is not applied and any gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recaognised in the income statement.

{iii) Hedge of net investment in foreign operations
The portion of the gain or loss on an instrument used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation that is determined lo be an
effective hedge is recognised directly in equity within the translation reserve. The ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the

income statement.
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E Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(i) Recognition and measurement

tand and buildings (other than investment properties) are stated at cost, except as allowed under IFRS 1 transition nules, less
depreciation and any provision for impairment. All other property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less depreciation and any
provision for impairment. Any impairment of such properties below depreciated historical cost is charged to the income statement.

Under the transition provisions of iFRS 1, land and buildings which were previously revalued under UK GAAP were measured on the
basis of their deemed cost, being their UK GAAP carrying value, ncluding revaluations, as at 1 January 2004 being the effective date of
the Group's conversion to IFRS.

{ii) Depreciation
Freehald iand is not depreciated. All other assets are depreciated to their residual values on a straight-ine basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Sunlding care 50 years or lease term if shorter
Building surface, finishes and services 30 years or lease term if shorter
Plant and machinery 10 - 20 years

Furniture and equipment 10 years

Soft furnishings 5 -7 years

Computer equipment 5 years

Software up to 8 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

No residual values are ascribed to building surface finishes and services. Residual values ascribed 1o building core depend on the
nature, location and tenure of each property.

(i) Subsequent costs

Capital expenditure on major projects is recorded separately within property, plant and equipment as capital work in progress. Once the
praject is complete the balance is transferred to the appropriate fixed asset categories. Capital work in progress is not depreciated.

Interest attributable to funds used to finance the construction or acquisition of new hotels or major extensions o existing hoteis is
capitalised net of tax relief and added to the cost of the hote! core.

Operating supplies, which include China, linen, glass and silverware, were stated at their deemed costs as at 1 January 2008 and
subsumed into the costs of the hotel buildings. Subsequent renewals and replacements of such stocks and new supplies upon initial
hotel opening are written off as incurred to the income statement.

F Leases

Effective 1 January 2019, the Group adopted IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ using the modified retrospective approach allowed under which the
cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in accumulated profits as at 1 January 2018. The details of the curent and prior
years accounting policies are disclosed separately below Further information on the adoption and initial application of IFRS 16 can be
found in Note 36,

Poticy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Rentals payable under operating leases were charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable {and costs paid and payable) as an incentive to enter into an operating lease were also spread
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

For contracts entered inta on or after 1 January 2019, the Group assesses at inception whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
tease exists if the contract conveys the right to controt the use of an identified asset for & period of time in exchange for consideration.
The Group assessment inciudes whether:

the contract involves the use of an identified asset;

the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset throughout
the contract period; and

the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.

(i} the Group as a lessee
At the commencement of 3 lease, the Group recognises a nght-of-use asset along with a corresponding lease liability
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The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the remaining fease payments, discounted using the applicable
incremental borrowing rate (single discount rate applied to a portfolio of leases with simitar characteristics) The lease term comprises
the non-canceitable period of the contract, together with periods covered by an option to extend the lease where the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option based on operational needs and contractual terms. Subsequently, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost by increasing the camying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability, and reducing it by the lease
payments made. The lease liability is remeasured either when the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise an
extension ar termination option (if expected to be terminated early then any applicable penalties due will also be factored in the
remeasurement) or if there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected 1o be payable under the residual value
guarantee.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the inital measurement of the lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, estimated asset retirement obligations, lease incentives received and mitial
direct costs. Subsequently, right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated deprecialion and any accumulated
impairment losses, and are adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease hability. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the length of the lease.

The Group has elected to apply exemptions for short-term leases (less than 12 months) and leases for which the underiying asset 1s of
low value (£5,000 or less). For these leases, payments are charged lo the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of

the relevant lease.

Right-of-use assets are presented within nan-current assets on the face of the balance sheet, and lease liabilities are shown separately
on the balance sheet in current liabilities and non-current liabilities depending on the length of the lease term. Leases where the Group
assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased asset is initially recorded at
the lower of fair value and the present value of minimum lease payments. The equivalent liability, categorised as appropriate, is
included within current or non-current liabilities. Assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful economic
lives. Finance charges are allocated to accounting periods over the period of the lease to produce constant rates of return on the
cutstanding balance.

(i} the Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, il determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or gperating lease. Rents
receivable by the Group as lessor under operating leases, including the sub-letling of retail cutlets within hotel properties, are credited
to the income statement an a straight-line basis over the lease term even if the receipts are not made on such basis. Coslts, including
depreciation incurred in earning the lease income, are recognised as an expense. Rents receivable under a finance lease are
recognised on the statement of financial position as a finance lease receivable and the corresponding asset is subsequently disposed
of with a profit or loss if applicabte recognised in the income statement.

G Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group's assets, other than investment properties, inventories, employee benefit assets and deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverabie amount of assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present vaiue using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment is recagnised in the income statement whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount Impawment iosses are reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used o determing the recoverable
amount. Where permissible under IFRS, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment had been

recognised.

In the case of equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the asset below its cost is considered in determining
wheather the asset is impaired. If any such evidence exists for these assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the income
staternent — is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement.

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on:
financial assets measured at amortised cost;
debt investmenis measured at FVOCI or FVTPL; and
contracl assets.
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Loss aliowances of the Group are measured on either of the following bases:
12-month ECL: these are ECL that result from default evenis that are possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months); or
Lifetime ECL: these are ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financiat
instrument or contract asset.

Simpiified approach
The Group applies the simpiified approach to provide for ECL for all trade receivables and contract assets. The simplified approach
requires the loss allowance te be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.

General approach

The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECL on all other financial instruments. Under the general agproach, the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-manth ECL at initial recognition. At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since inital recognition. When credit risk has increased sigmificantly
since initral recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating
ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
incluges both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's histaricat experience and informed credit
assessment and includes forward-looking information.

If credit risk has not increased significantly since initia! recognition or if the credit quality of the financial instruments improves such that
there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-
rnonth ECL.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the bormower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held). The Group considers a contract asset to be in default
when the customer is unlikely to pay its contractual obligations to the Group in fulk, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is hald).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed 10 credit
risk. ’

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credil losses. Credit losses are measured at the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI ar
FVTPL are credit impaired. A financial assel is 'credit-impaired” when one or mare events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
. Significant financial gifficulty of the borrower or issuer;
A breach of cantract such as a default;
The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise,
It is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financiat rearganisation; or
The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract assets are deducted from the gross carrying amount of
these assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (gither partially or in full} to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
racovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debter does not have asseis or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could stitl be
subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
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H Investment properties

Investment properties held by the Group are properties which are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both.
Investment properties are stated at fair value. Any gain or loss in the far value on annual revaluation s recognised in the income
statement in accorgance with IAS 40 Investment Property. In limited circumstances, the determination of fair value is uncertain, and
these properties are carried at cost. Impairmant analysis over these properties is carried cut annually.

An external independent valuer, having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent expenence in the location and
category of the property being valued, values the portfolio annually. The fair values are based on market values, baing the estimated
amount tor which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length
transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsian.

| Inventories
Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

J Development properties

Development properties are stated al the lower of cost and net realisable value. Thay ara held for sale in the short term and are
therefore classified as current assets. The cost of development properties includes interest and other related expenditure incurrad in
arder to get the asset ready for its intended use. Borrowing costs payable on loans funding a development property are also capitalised,
on a specific identification basis, as part of the cost of the development property until the completion of development. Payments
received from purchasers arising from pre-sales of the property units prior to the completion are included as deferred income under
other financial iiabilities in the statement of financial position.

K Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash batances and call deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and form an integral parl of the Group's cash management are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents.

L Borrowings '
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost:
any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statament over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

M Taxation
Income tax on profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent

ihat it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Curent tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided for using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temparary differences
are not provided for: (i) the initial recogmtion of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nar taxable profit; and (i) differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foresaeable future. The amount of deferrect
tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised oniy to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only to the extent that: (i) the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities; {ii) the Group interds to settle net; and (iii) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

N Employee benefits
(i) Defined contribution plans
Cbligations for contributions to defined contribution pension ptans are recognised as an expense in the income statement.
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(i} Defined benefit plans

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension plans. As set out in Note 21, the calculation of the present value of the
Group's defined benefit obligations at each period end is subject to significant estimation. An appropriately gualified, independent
actuary is used to undertake this calculation. The assumptions made by the actuary are the besi estimates chosen from a range of
possible actuarial assumptions, which due 1o the timescale covered may not necessarily be borne out in practice. The valuation of
scheme assets is based an their fair value at the balance sheet date. As these assets are not intended 1o be sold in the short term, their
values may be subject to significant change before they are realised. In reviewing the work of the independent actuary, management is
required to exercise judgement to satisfy themselves that appropriate weight has been afforded to macro-economic factors. Details of
the assumptions used are set out in Note 21.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit post-employment plans, including pensian plans, is calculated separately for
each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior
pericds, That benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets 1s deducted. The calculation is
performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. :

When lhe benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is recognised
immediately as an expense in the income statement.

The Group recognises remeasurement gains and losses within the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which they occur.

The Group determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liabilities (asset) for the period by applying the
discount rate used {o measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual pericd to the net defined benefit liability
(asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the pericd as a result of contributions and
benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in the income statement.

{ifi) Long-term service benefits

The Group's net otligation in respect of long-term service benefits, other than post-employment plans, is the amount of future berefit
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and priar periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected
unit credit method and is discounted to its present value and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted.

(iv) Share-based payment transactions
The share-based incentive schemes previousiy allowed the Group's employees to acquire shares of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc
(now Millennium & Copthorne Hotetls Limited).

The cost of equity-settied transactions with employees for awards granted after 7 November 2002 1s measured by reference to the fair
value at the date on which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using an appropriate pricing model, further details of which
are given in Note 21.

The cost of equity-settied fransactions is recognised, together with a coresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance arxi/or service canditions are fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-setled transactions at each reporting
date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The income statement expense or credit for a period represents the movement in cumuiative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do nat ultimately vest, except for equity-settied transactions where vesting is conditioral upon
a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the ferms of an equity-settied transaction award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are mel. An additional expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of medification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where nan-vesting conditions within the contrai of either the entity or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modfication of the original award, as described in
the previous paragraph. All canceliations of equity-settled transaction awards are treated equatly.
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o] Provisions

A provision is recognised on the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Further details on provisions are given in Note 22.

P Revenue and its recognition

Revenue comprises:

+ Income from the ownership and operation of hotels — recognised at the point at which the accommodation and
related services are provided,;

*  Measurement and recognition of refunds and other obligations - This is recognised at the point at which a complaint is
made. The obligation is measured based on the severity of the complaint received and the discretion of management
to determine the amount. This can be up 1o the full amount of the accommodation and/or services provided,

+  Management fees — earned from hotels managed by the Group, usually under long-term contracts with the hotel
owner. Management fees inciude a base fee, which is generally a percentage of hotel revenue, and/cr an incentive
fee, which is generally based on thae hotel's profitability; recognised when earned ¢n an accrual basis under the
terms of the contract;

+  Franchise fees — received in connection with licensing of the Group's brand names, usually under long-term
contracts with the hotel owner. The Group charges franchise royalty fees as a percentage of rocm revenue,
recognised when earned an an accrual basis under the terms of the agreement;

+  Income from property rental — recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term, lease incentives granted
are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income; and

+  Developrnent property sales — recognised when the transfer of contrdl of the property has passed to the buyer,
which is usually when legal title transfers depending on jurisdictions. The trigger for revenue recognition depends
on the laws within each jurisdiction.

Q Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are appropriatefy authorised and approved for payment and are no longer at the discretion of the Company. Unpaid dividends
that do not meet these criteria are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

R Operating segment information

Disclosure of segmental information is principally presented in respect of the Group’s geographicat segments. The segments reported
reflect the operating information included in internal reports that the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM"), which is the Board,
regularly reviews. Further details are given in Note 5.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activilies from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, including revenues and expenseas that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. Discrete financial
information is reported to and is reviewed by the CODM on a geographical basis. Operating segments have Chief Operating Officers
{"COO0s") or equivalent who are directly accountable for the functioning of their segments and maintain regular contact with the Group
Chief Cxecutive Officer and Chairman of the COOM to discuss the operational and financial performance. The CODM makes decisions
about allgcation of resources to the regions managed by the COQOs. No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
reportable gperating segments.

Segment results that are reported to the CODM include items directly atiributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated
an a reasonable basis. Unallocated items principally comprise interest-bearing loans, borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, net
finance expense, taxation balances and corporate expenses.

S Non-current assets held-for-sale

A non-current asset or a group of assets containing a non-current asset (a disposal group} is classified as held for sale if i{'s camying
amount will be recovered principally through sale rather than through continuing use, it is available for immediate sale and sale is highly
probable within one year. On initial classification as heid for sale, non-current assets and disposal groups are measured at the lower of
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell with any adjustments taken to profit or 10ss. Any impairment loss on a
disposal group is first allocated to property, plant and equipment and lease premium prepayment, and then to remaining assets ang
liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated {o inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit
assels and investment property, which continue 1o be measured in accordance with the Group’s accbunting policies. Impairment losses
on initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in the income statement.
Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment [oss.

T Other financial assets and liabilities

Trade investments are classified as either equity instruments at FYOCI or fair value through profit and loss (*FVTPL") and are included
under non-current assets within ‘other financial assets’. They are recorded at market value with movements in value taken to equity.
Any impairment 1o value is recorded in the income statement.
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Trade and other receivables are stated at their nominal amount (discounted if material) less any imparment. Trade and other payabies
are stated at their nominal amount {discounted if material)

u Related parties

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly or
indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or
where the Group and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or
other entities.

v Government grants

The Group recognises an unconditional government grant related to an asset in profit or loss as other income when the grant becomes
receivable. Other government grants related to assets are inbially recognised as defemred income at fair value if there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant; they are then recognised in
profit or toss as other income on a systematic basis aver the useful life of the asset.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are offset against the particular expense in profit or loss on z systematic basis
in the periods in which the expenses are recognised, unless the conditions for receiving the grant are met after the related expenses
have been recognised. In this case, the grant is recognised when it becomes receivable.

3 Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of financial statements under IFRS requires the Group to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingencies and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during the year.
The Group evaluates its estimates and assumptions gn an ongoing basis. Such estimates and judgemenis are based upon historical
experience and other factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumsiances, which form the basis for making judgements about
the carrying value of assets and tiabilities that are not readhly apparent from other sources.

Certain critical accounting policies, among others, affect the Group's more significant estimates and assumplions used in preparing the
consolidated financial stateaments. Actual results could differ from the Group's estimates and assumptions.

3.1 Judgements
The key judgements are:

Classification of investment properties

The Group holds a number of investment properties and accounts far such properties in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in Note 2.2H. The Group owns assets which are leased to external third parties with lease rentals and related charges varying according
to the agreement involved. The Group accounts for such assets in its financial statements in accordance with the accounting policy set
out in Note 2.2H.

Where the indicatars are such that on balance the Group is shown to be a passive investor, the relevant property is accounted for in
accordance with IAS 40 and the Group accaunts for the fair vatue change through the income statement as other operating income or
expense. Indicators considered include (1) party that has the power to make the significant operating and financing decisions regarcing
the operations of the property in a management contract, (2) calculation of the lessor's retum, (3) tessor's power of intervention under
lhe management contract, and (4) duration of the contract.

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than a majority of voting rights (de facto contral)

tn 2014, the new consclidation accounting standard, IFRS 10 Introduced a new control mode! that focuses on whether the Group has
power over an investee, exposure or right to variable return from its involvement with the investee and ability to use its power to affect
those returns

This required the Group to consider whether it has de facto control over its investees, particularly when it owned less than 50% of the
voting rights. In 2014, in accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 10, the Group reassessed the control conclusion for its
investees and changed its control conclusion in respect of its investment in COLHT, which was previously accounted for as an
associate using the equity method. Although the Group owns less than half of the voting power of the investee, management
determined that under IFRS 10, the Group has had control over the investee since its inception. This is because a 100% owned
subsidiary of the Group, M&C REIT Management Limited acts as REIT manager with its fees having a performance-based element and
therefore the Group has exposure to variable returns from its involverment with the investee. Accordingly, in 2014, the Group applied
acquisition accounting to the investment from the year it was first established in 2008, and restated the relevant amounts as if the
invastee had been consolidated from that year. Dunng the financial year 2022, the Group sold part of the CDLHT units that it held to the
holding company, thereby reducing its interest in CDLHT to 27% (2021: 39%). The Group has assessed that the reduction in interest in
CDLHT has resulted in the Group no longer having caontrol of CDLHT. Accordingly, CDLHT was deconsolidated and accounted for as
an associate thereafter, this is cetailed n note 34.
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Business combination

For each acquisition, the Group has to make a judgement whether to account the transaction as an asset purchase or a business
combination, which resuits in a different accounling lredlment. In particular, under business combination accounting, goodwill and
additional intangible assets may arise and the valuation of acquired assets is complex. In addition, Iransaction costs can be capitalised
in an asset acquisition, but have to be charged through the income statement for a business combination. The classification of each
acquisition and related accounting is highly judgmental. There were no acquisitions undertaken by the Group during 2022.

Land [eases classification

The Group helds & numibier of hulels with ledses of tana tat are determined to have an indefinite economic hife. The judgement prior to
1 January 2019 was that these were classified as a finance lease even if at the end of the lease term title does not pass to the lessee.
Subsequent to 1 January 2019 and the adoplion of {FRS 16 "Leases’, these assets have been reclassified as right-of-use assets.

32 Estimates
The key estimates are:

Impairment of tangible assets

The Group determines whether tangible fixed assets are impaired when indicators of impairments exist or based on the annual
impairment assessment. The annual assessment requires an estimate of the recoverable value of the cash generating units fo which
{he tangibte fixed assets are allocated, which is predominantly at the individual hotel site level. Where appropriate, external valuations
are also undertaken. Estimation of the recoverable value of the hotel assets is done with the reference to fair value less cost to sell,
using income approach, which requires estimaticn of future cash flows of a third-party efficient operator, the time period over which they
will occur, an appropriate discount rates, terminal capitalization rates and growth rates. The Directors consider that the assumptions
made represent their best estimate, and that the discount rate and terminal capitalisation rate used are appropriate given the risks
associated with the specific cash flows. A sensitivity analysis has been performed over the estimates (see Note 11).

4 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The following standards and interpretations, which have been issued by the IASB, becomne effective after the current year end and have

not been earfy adopted by tha Group:
= IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective date 1 January 2023).

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of these new standards, amendments and interpretations on the financial
statements.

5 Operating segment information
Disclosure of segmental information is principally presented in respect of the Group's geographical segments.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis. Unallocated items principally comprise: interest-bearing loans, borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, net financial
expense, taxation balances and corporate expenses.

Geographical segments
The hotel and property operations are managed on a worldwide basis and operate in seven principal geographical areas as follows:

+ MNew Yoark

= Regional US

« London

» Rest of UK/EU
« Singapore

* Rest of Asia

= Australasia

The segments reported reflect the operating segment information included in the internal reports that the Chief Operating Decision
Maker ("CODM"), which is the Board, regularly reviews.

The reportable segments are aligned with the structure of the Group's internal organisation which is based according to geographical
region. Discrete financial information is reported to and is reviewed by the CODM on a geographical basis. Operating segments have
Chief Operating Officers (‘COQs"} or equivalent who are directty accountable for the funclioning of their segments and who maintain
regular contact with the Group Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the CODM to discuss the operational and financial
performance. The CODM makes decisions about allocation of resources to the regions managed by the COOs.

The results of CDLHT were incorporated within the existing geographical regions and CDLHT operations are reviewed separately by its
board on a monthly basis Durning the financial year, COLHT was deconsolidated and accounted for as an associate thereafter, see note

34 for more details.
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Segment results

2022
NEW YORK REGIONAL US LONDON “Eﬁ(‘,‘; SINGAPORE RESTOF ASIA  AUSTRALASIA Cﬁggﬁg TOTAL GROUP
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
Haotel 157 105 141 76 126 107 41 - 753
Property operations - 10 - - 2 4 41 - 57
REIT* - - - 11 11 3 3 . 34
Total revenue 157 115 141 87 139 120 85 - B44
Hotel gross operating profit ki | 26 65 23 58 14 14 - 23
Hatel fixed charges’ {49) {19) (22) i) (28} (35) (5) - (165)
Hotel operating profit/{ioss) {18} T 43 16 o {21) 9 &6
Property operating profit . 4 - . 1 2 25 - 32
REIT eperating prafiv(lcss) - - - 3 {4) 2 () - -
Central costs - - - - - - {25) 25)
Other operating income” - - - - 158 543 13 - 712
Qther pperating exgnsez 6 (3) - 5 n § (4) - 3
Operating profit{ioss) (t2) 8 43 24 176 532 42 (25) 768
S:’e:_lrle of joint ventures and associates’ _ . . 8 23 15 1 R 53
Add: Depreciation and amortisation 11 9 9 5 14 16 3 2 (1]
Add: Net revaiuation gain‘deficll &
oot g - ) ) 2 12) ] ® - (39)
EBITDA’ [TH) 13 46 ET) 207 554 7 (23) 872
Lege: Oepraciation, amortisation, net rovaluatien gain/deficit & impaimrant 31}
Net finance expense (1)
Profit before tax 840
1 Hotei fixed charges inciude depreciation, property rent, taxes and insurance, and managemeni fees.
2 See Note 7 for delais of other operaling 1ncome and expense.
3 EBITDA is eamings pefore interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
4 COLHT operates the REIT business.
Segment results
2_0_31
NEW YORK REGIONAL US LONDON R OF, SINGAPORE RESTOFASIA  AUSTRALASIA CES;::‘“S TOTAL GROUP
£m £m £m £m £m £m fm £m £m
Ravenus
Hotel €8 70 59 36 54 83 48 418
Property operations 4 - - 2 4 56 66
REIT* - - - 19 18 13 5 56
Total revenue 68 T4 55 55 75 100 109 - 540
Hote) gross operating profit/{loss) {18) 19 2 7 n 10 23 . 85
Hote! fixed charges’ (30} {17) 12y (6) (5 27 (6) : £103)
Hote! operating profit(loss) {48} 2 10 1 17 (1n 17 - (18)
Property operating profit - 1 - (L)) 3 26 - 29
REIT aperating {loss) - - 5 (11) 1 [4))] - {6)
Central cosls - - - - - - - {28) (28)
Other operating income? - 46 - 4 1 4 B - 63
Other operating expense’ 26 15 - 5 @ (28) (5) 1
Other operating income — REIT? - - - 1 1 - - 2
Other operating expense - REIT” - - . (2} 3 4 (2) - 3
Operating profit/(loss) (22) 64 10 13 8 (32} 43 {28} 56
:rh'jif[g of joinl ventures and associales’ _ : R 4 . 13 ~ 17
Add. Depreci 1 ang isation 1 9 9 6 1% 18 4 K] 75
Add: Net revaluation gain/deficit & . ) 26) 61 @ (22) 7 (108)
'mpa rment
ERITDA® 1) 69 n (38) 21 23 54 25) 40
Less Degreciation, amoartisation, net revaluation gain/deficit & imparment 33
Net finance expense (23)
50

Profit before tax

B L R

CDLHT operated the REIT business.

Hotel fixed charges include depreciation, property rent, taxes and insurance, and management fees.
See Note 7 for details of oiber operating income and expense.
EBITDA 15 earmngs before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.
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segmental assets and llabilitles

MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

2022
NEW YORK REGIONAL US LONDON Rz, SINGAPORE RESTOF ASIA  AUSTRALASIA TOTAL GROUP
. Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Haotet oparating assets 640 313 546 211 379 1,003 185 3,277
Hotel operating liabilities (67) (48) (37) (36) {361) (125) (26) {700)
investment in joint ventures and ; ; B 70 39 135 12 256
associates
Total hotal operating net assets 573 265 509 245 57 1,013 171 2,833
Property aparating assats - 188 - - 168 174 153 683
Property operating liabilites - [4)] - - {13 {3} {2) {19)
Invesl.ment in joint ventures and . . 123 115 267 16 541
associates
Tetal praperty aperating net assets - 187 . 123 270 438 187 1,205
Deferred tax liabiities (190)
Income taxes payable (53)
Net gebt 50
Not assets 3,845
Segmental assets and {iabilities
2021
NEW YORK REGICNAL US LONDON RESJG%':’ SINGAPORE REST OF ASIA  AUSTRALASIA TOTAL GROUP
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Hota! operating assets 568 269 559 200 36 669 177 2,478
RE!T operating assats - .- 256 705 121 160 1,182
Hotel operaling Jiabilities (58) {38) (35) (44) {42) {182) (19 {415)
REIT operating liabslities - - - (15) (43) (15) 3 (76}
Investment in joint ventures and
associates - - - 13 - 122 135
Total hotel operating net assets 513 21 524 410 656 713 255 3,304
Property aperating assets - 179 - - g2 172 124 567
Property operating liabilities - (4} - - [4))] {3) {4 9)
lnvasl_ment in joint ventures and B . 0 . 228 1 33g
associates
Total property operating net assets - 176 - 101 91 97 121 588
Deferred tax liabilities (72)
Income taxes payable (21)
Net debt {824)
Net assets 3275
Geographic informatian
2022 2021
— £m £m
Revenua from pxternal customers
United States 272 142
Unitad Kingdom 208 106
Singapare 139 76
New Zealand 76 95
Taiwan 48 29
South Korea k) 26
France 12 1
Australia ] 14
China 9 14
Malaysia 9 4
Maldives B 11
Haly ] 3
Philippines 4 5
Indonesia 4 2
Other 9 13
Total revenue per consolidated income statemant 844 540

The revenue informaticn abave is based an the location of the business. The £844m (2021 £540m) revenue is constituted of £753m (2021: £418m) of hotel revenue,
£57m (2021: £66m) of property Operalions revenve and £34m (2021: £56m) of REIT revenue. The property operaticns revenue comprises £41m {2021: £56m) from
Australasia, £2m (2021, £2m) from Singapore, £10m {2021: £4m) from the regional US and £4m (2021: £4m) from Japan.
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2022 2021
£m £m

Non-Gurrent assets
United Slates 1,094 Q988
United Kingdom 714 a4
Singapore 664 a22
South Korea 458 174
China : 344 a3
Taiwan 301 3
New Zealand 245 241
Japan 179 a17
Netherands 112 1014
Hong Kong 107 102
Malaysia 82 50
Rtaly 52 71
Germany 27 101
France 23 22
Maldives 23 79
Philippines 1€ 10
Australia 14 a2
Indonesia 12 12
Total nan-gurrent assets per consolidated giatement of financlal position 4 4489 4,478

" Non<cutrent assets for this purpcse consist of propeny, plant and equipment, nvestiment properties, invesiment (A joint ventures and associates and other non-current
financial assets
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6 Administrative expenses
The foliowing items are included wittin administrative expenses:
2022 2021
£m Em
Included in administrative expenses is the auditor's remuneration, for audit and non-audit services as follows:
Auditor's remuneration
Statutory audit services:
— Annual audit of the Company and consclidated financial statements 1 1
— Audit of subsidiary campanies 2 2
3 3
Non-audit related services:
- Tax advisory . -
Jotal 3 3
2022 2021
- £m £m
Repairs and maintenance 57 a5
Depreciation
— property, plant and equipment 55 67
— right-of-use assets 14 8
Rental paid/payable under operating leases”
— land and buildings 15 -
— plant and machinery 1 1
= Under IFRS 16 'Leases’, which the Group adopied in 2018, pay undler gperating 'eases are not charged to the income stalement excepl for those where a recognilion exemplion has
baan applisd.
7 Other operating income and expense
2022 2021
Naotes £m £m
Revaluvation gain/(deficit) of investment properties (A)
— REIT properties - (2)
— Biltmore Court & Tower (7} 19
— Sunnyvale (7) 27
- CDL Land New Zealand Limited ' 13 -
~ Millenrium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo 1 -
— Reversionary interest on freehold !and 12 -
Reversal of property, plant & equipment {B) 26 64
38 108
Gain on disposal of property, plant and eguipment (C) 501 12
Gain on disposal of investment property (D) 59 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiary {E) 84 -
Fair value loss from FSGL's warrant (F) (8} -
Other operating income / {expense) relating to disposal {G) 41 (44)
Other operating income {(H) - 3
715 79
{A) Revaluation gain/(deficit) of investment properties

At the end of the financial year, in accordance with the Group's policy its investment properties were subject to externa! professicnal
valuation on an open-markel existing use basis. Based on these valuations, the revaluation gain or deficit was recorded as considered
appropriate by the Directors. Further details on these valuations are provided in Note 12.

(8) Reverszl of impairment losses of property, plant & equipment

The Directors undertook their annual review of the carrying value of hotels and property assets for indication of impairment and where
appropriate, external valuations were also obtained. As a result of this review, the total reversal of impairment far the year was £26m
consisting of £6m in New York, £11m in the regional US, £5m in the rest of UK/EU and £8m in the rest of Asia. A net impairment
charge of £{4)m was recognised in Australasia.

For 2021, a total impairment reversal of £64m consisting of £26m in New Yark, £15m in regional US, £7m in Rest of UK/EU, £3m in
Singapore and £21m in the rest of Asia. This was offset by charge of £7m in Australasia and £1m in Singapore.
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(<) Gain on disposal of proparty, plant & equipment
The disposai of Millennium Hilton Secul was completed in February 2022 and was included in the 'Rest of Asia’ segment and
recognised a gain on disposal of E501m and net proceeds of £E611m.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, there were two disposals of property plant and equipment resulting in a gain on disposal. The
Copthorne Hotel Birmingham was sold on 19 August 2021 for £17m with a gain on disposal of £4m.

Christchurch Land was disposed in May 2021 by New Zealand Group with sales proceeds of NZD18m (E£Sm) reaiising a gain of
NZD16m (£8m).

(D) Gain on disposal of investment property
For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was a gain of ES3m (2021: £nil) and net proceeds of £152m on the disposal of the
investment property refating to the collective sale of Tanglin Shopping Centre.

{E) Gain on disposal of subsidiary

On 24 May 2022, the Group disposed of part of the CDLHT units that it held to the halding company, which reduced the Group's interest
in COLHT fram 38.89% to 27.30% resulting in the Group losing control over CDLHT. CDLHT was deconsclidated to become an
associate of the Group. The Group recognised a gain on disposal of £84m.

(F) Fair value loss from FSGL's warrant
Far the year ended 31 December 2022, a fair value loss of £8m {2021:£ nil) was recorded by the Group from the holding of warrants

(G) Other operating income/{expense) relating to disposal

The Group had entered into the Sales & Purchase Agreement (SFPA) with YD427 PFV Co. Ltd. on 10 December 2021 In this regard, it
is expected that the management agreement with Hilton International Co. {HIC) entered on 1 September 2019 were no longer continue,
As it is highly probable that the Group will pay a penalty from the early termination on this agreement, and the amount can be reliably
estimated, the Group recognised KRW 16b (£10m) of provision for the year ended 31 December 2021,

The Group had entered into the Master Lease Agreement (MLA) with YD427 PFV Co. Ltd. on 10 December 2021. The hotel operation
continued untit 31 December 2022 and succession and compensation of the employment (the compensation} will be preceded
accordingly. As it is highly probable that the Company will pay the compensation and the amount can be reliably estimated, the Group
recognised KRW 46b (£29m) of provision for the year ended 31 December 2021 Due t¢ the expiration of the building permit scheduled
in January 2022 and the SPA with YD427 PFV Co. Ltd., the construction-in-progress amounting to KRW 7b {£5m) that has been
accounied for incurred costs relating to building design and government licences for a new hotel extension project was written off during
the year.

The sale of Millennium Hilton Seoul was completed during the current financial year. As at 31 December 2022, further provisions were
provided as the amount was finalised. The Group would receive from the buyer of Millennium Hilton Seoui the amounts incurred in
respect of its obligations under the relevant contracts. The Group has recognised the reimbursement amount of KRW 61b (£39m) and
compensated losses of KRW 4b (£2m) as other operating income.

{H} Other operating income -
The agreement entered for the sale of Copthorne Orchid Penang was terminated in December 2021. The deposit and the deferment fee
of MYR18m (£3m) was recognised as other operating income.

8 Personne! expenses

2022 2021
£€m £m
Wages and salaries 258 171
Compulsory social security contributions 42 25
Contributions to defined contribution schemes 15 1"
Defined benefit pension {gain) — recorded in the statement of comprehensive income 9} (2)
Defined benefit pension cost — recorded in the income statement 4 1
310 206

The number of employees employed by the Group as at year end analysed by category was as follows:
2022 2021
NUMBER NUMBER
Hotel operating staff 4,823 4,744
Management/administration 952 962
Sales and marketing 231 211
Repairs and maintenance 435 441
6,441 6,358
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Directors' remuneration

2022 2021

Em £m
Directors’ remuneration - -
Amounts receivable under long term incentive plans - -
Company contributions to money purchase pension plans - o

The above table shows directors’ remuneration for directors remunerated by the Group. No allocation has been made for directars

remunerated thiough a related company, not part of the Group, as it is impractcal to aliocate their ime tor services to the Group.

The aggregate of remuneration and amounts receivable under long term incentive schemes of the highest paid director was E nil (2021:
£ nil), and Company pension contributions of £ nil (2021: £nil} were made 10 a money purchase scheme on hisfher behalf. They are a
member of a defined benefit scheme, under which their accrued pension at the year-end was £ nil (2021: £ nil), and their accrued lump

sum was £nil (2021: £nil).

2022 2021
£m £m
Relirement benefits are accruing to the foltowing number of directors under:
— Money purchase schemes - -
The number of directors who exercised share aptions was - -
The number of directors in respect of whose qualifying services shares were received or receivable under ) _
long tarm incentive schemes was
9 Net finance expense
022 2021
£m £fm
Interest income 18 2
Fareign exchange gain 40 13
Finance income 58 15
Interest expense
— Dwerdrafts, bank and cther loans {24) {(24)
— Recognised under IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (12) {5)
Foreign exchange loss (23) {9)
Finance expense (59) (38)
Net finance expense (1) (23)
10 Income tax
2022 2021
£m £m
Current tax
Corporalion tax charge for the year 181 16
Adjustment in respect of prior years 3) 1
Total current tax charge 178 17
Deferred tax (Note 24)
Origination and reversal of timing differences 93 25
Benefits of tax {profits)losses recognised 15 (31)
Ower provision in respect of prior years - (50)
Total deferred tax charge/(credit) 108 {56)
Total income tax charge/{credit) in the consolidated income statement 286 (39)
UK 28 -
QOverseas 258 (39)
Total income tax charge/(credit) in the consolidated income statement 286 (39)

The effective tax rate relating to the 1ax charge of £286m is 34.0% (2021:tax credit of £39m, -52.2%). The effective tax rate has been

affected primarily by the mix of Group's regional profits and tax adjustments in respect of previous years.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, a charge of £10m (2021: £12m) reiating to joint ventures and associates is included in the profit

before tax.
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Adjustments in respect of settlement of prior years’ tax liabilities

The Group's tax charge on ordinary activities is the sum of the total current and ceferred tax charges. The calculation of the Group's
total tax charge necessarily involves a degree of estimation and judgement in respect of certain items whose tax treatment cannot be
finally determined until resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority or, as appropriate, through a formal legal process.

The final resolution of some of these items may give rise to material profit and loss and/or cash flow variances.

The geographical complexity of the Group's structure makes the degree of estimation and judgement more challenging. The resolution
of 1ssues is not always within the cortrol of the Group and it is often dependent on the efficacy of the legal processes in the relevant tax

jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Incame tax raconciliation

2022 2021

£m Em

Profit before income tax in consolidated income statement 840 50
Less share of profits of joint ventures ang associates (53) (17)
Profit n ordinary activities excliuding share of joint ventures and associates 787 33
Income tax on ordinary activities at the standard rate of UK tax of 18.00% {2021: 19.00%) 150 6
Tax exempt income (32) (33)
Non-¢eductible expenses 12 27
Unrecognised tax losses arising during the year 13 2
Origination of temporary differences B8 -
Other effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 41 7
Qther adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior years 14 {48)
Income tax charge/(credit) per consolidated income statement 286 (39)
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1" Property, plant and equipment
FIXTURES,
LAND AND ﬁgg;‘:; PLANT AND FITI'::NES, RIGHT OF USE TOTAL
BULDINGS o rneag  MACHINERY EQUIPMENT ASSETS
AND VEHICLES
Em £m £m £m £m £m

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2021 3,384 32 364 432 237 4,449
Additions — Others 3 12 [ 7 4 32
Reclassification between assel categories 1 (4) - 3 - -
Transfer to assets from investment property 3 - 7 - - 41
Disposals - - - {2) {5} {7}
Written off (8) ()] - (2) - (15)
Fareign exchan_g_Edjustmen Is (24) - (1) (2 h (26}
Balance at 31 December 2021 3,390 35 376 436 237 4,474
Balance at 1 January 2022 3,390 35 are 436 237 4,474
Additions 3 13 3 7 327 353
Reclassification between asset categories 4 {4) (3) 3 - -
Transfer to investment property (126) - - - - (126)
Transfer from assets held for sale 6 - 3 2 - 11
Disposal of subsidiary (817) (1) (197) (153) (112) (1,.28B0)
Disposals {178} - {9 {43) (1 (231}
Revaluation recognised through other 123 _ . R R 123
comprehensive income

written off (12) - {2) (10) (2) (26)
Foreign exchange adjustments 152 2 19 20 27 220
Balance at 31 December 2022 2,545 45 190 262 476 3,518
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2021 676 - 149 356 16 1.197
Charge for the year 22 - 14 31 8 75
Impairment {62) - (2) - - {64}
Disposals - - - ) (@) (4)
Reclassification between asset categories 21 - - (21) - -
Written off (8) - - (2 - (10}
Fareign exchange adjustments (3) - (1) (3) - ")
Balance at 31 December 2021 646 - 160 359 22 1,187
Balance at 1 January 2022 646 - 160 358 22 1,187
Charge for the year 19 - 11 25 14 69
Impairment {26) - - . . (26)
Disposal of subsidiary (82) . (101) (129) N (319)
Disposals (16) - (2) {41) (] (60)
Transfer from assets held for sale during the year 1 - - 2 - 3
written off {12) - (1 (10 &) (24)
Foreign exchange adjustments 38 - 9 16 1 64
Balance at 31 December 2022 568 - 76 222 28 894
Carrying amounts

At 31 December 2022 1,977 45 114 40 448 2,624
At 31 December 2021 2,744 35 216 77 215 3,287

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment held under finance teases at 31 December 2022 was Enil (2021: £nil).

a Impairment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment based on each cash generating unit (“CGU"). The CGUs are individuai
hotels, The carrying value of individual hotels was compared to the recoverable amount of the hotels, which was derived with the
reference to fair value through creation of discount cash flow models. Under this methodology, the fair value measurement reflects
current market expectations about the third-party efficient operator's is future cash flows, discounted to their present value. The
underlying basis for the impairment model involves each holel's projected cash flow for the financial year ending 31 December 2022,
extrapolated 10 incorporate individual assumptions in respect of revenue growth {principally factoring in room rate and occupancy
growth) and major expense lines. The future cash flows are based on assumptions about competitive growth rates for hotels in that
area, as well as intemal business plans. These plans and forecasts include management's most recent view of trading prospects for the
hotel in the relevant market. Where appropriate, the Directors sought guidance on value from a registered independent appraiser with
an apprapriately recognised professional qualification and recent expenence in the location and category of the hotel being valued.
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On the basis of external valuations in 2022, the Group recorded an impairment charge of £6m (2021: £8m) and an mpairment reversal
of £32m (2021: £72m), resulting in a net impaimment reversal of £26m (2021: £64m) on individual holels across all operaling regions.
This cansists of an impatrment reversal of £11m in the regional US, £7m in the rest of the UK/EU, EBm in the rest of Asia and £6m in
New York. This was offset by impairment charges of £4m in New Zealand and £2m in the rest of UK/IEU.

Circumstances and events that led 1o impairment are largely due to the performance of the hotels as a result of the recovery from the
COVID 19 pandemic and current macro economic conditions. The fair values assumed through the impairment assessment are
" considered to fall within level 3 of the fair vatue hierarchy. Refer to Note 20{D) for more detaii.

b Key assumptions used by the external appraisers

The key assumptions used were as follows:

Pre-tax discount rate — The discount rate used is based on the country in which the hotel is located and is adjusted for risks associated
with the hotel. Discount rates ranged from 8.25% lo 10.50% in the US (2021: 7.50% - 11.75%), 7.50% to 12.19% in the rest of Asia
(2021: 6.10% to 11.82%), 7.25% to 11.38% in the rest of UK/EU (2021: 6.60% to 12.5%) and 8.26% to 10.25% in New Zealand (2021:
6.50% to 7.75%). ’

The forecasts cover a five to ten year period, and cash flows beyond this period are exirapolated using a growth rate ranging between
1 98% and 3.00% (2021: 1.70% to 3.12%), which is based upon the éxpected trading growth for each hotel and inflation in the country.

c Sensitivities

The Group's impairment review is sensitive to changes in the key assumptions used. An increase in occupancy rate and/or average
room rate growth in isclation woudd result in a higher recoverable amount. An increase in discount rate, terminal rale or capitalisation
rate in isolation wou{d resuit in a lower recoverable amount.

d Land and buildings
The interest of Enil {2021: Enil) was capitalised within land and buildings during the year.

e Pledged assets

At year-end, the nat book value of assets pledged as collaterat for secured loans was £254m (2021: £662m). The security for the loans
is by way of charges on the properties of the Group companies concerned.
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12 Investment properties

During 2022, the Group disposed of certain investment properties arising from the deconsolidation of COLHT. Completed investment
properties comprise Biltmore Court & Tower, Miliennium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo, retait shops at Stonebrook, retail shops at
Prestons Park, commercial warehouse at Roscommon Road and Lakeside Apartments, Sunnyvale.

Movements in the year analysed as:

[ TMENT

COMPLETED :;gger?ﬁgs RIGHT OF USE

INVESTMENT UNDER ASSETS TOTAL

PROPERTIES (- onsTRUCTION

£m £m £m £m

‘Balance at 1 January 2021 589 68 7 664
Additions 16 43 - 59
Reclassification 103 (103) - -
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (41) - - (41)
Transfer from development properties 2 - - 2
Net revaluation gain 44 - - 44
Wntten off {2) - - (2)
_[Foreign exchange adjustment (28} 2 - {26)
_Balance at 31 December 2021 683 10 7 700
Balance at 1 January 2022 683 10 7 700
Additions 8 7 1 16
Reclassification 17 an - -
Acquisition of subsidiary 25 - 20 45
Transfer from property, plant and equipment during the year 126 - - 126
Disposal {98) - - {98)
Disposal of subsidiary (257} - (27) (284)
Net revaluation gain 12 - - 12
Foreign exchange adjustments 34 - - 34 -
Batance at 31 December 2022 550 - 1 551

in general, the carrying amount of investment property other than those under construction is the fair value of the property as
determined by a registered independent appraiser having an appropriate recognised prafessional qualification and recent experience in
the location and category of the property being valued. Fair values were determined having regard to recent market transactions for

similar properties in the same location as the Group's investment property.

The Group's investment properties were subject to external professional valuation on an open market existing use basis by the following

accredited independent valuers:

REVALUATION

DEFICIT SURPLUS

PROPERTIES VALUERS 2022 £m £m
Biitmore Court & Tower, Los Angeles Caltiers International Valuation & Advisory Services {7) -
Lakeside Apartments, Sunnyvale, California Colliers International Valuation & Advisory Services (7} -
Mitlennium Mitsui Garden Hote!, Tokyo JLL Morii Valuation & Advisory K.K - 1
Rollerston, New Zeatand Extensor Advisory Lirnited - -
Prestons road, New Zealand Extensor Advisory Limited - 1
Roscommon Road, New Zealand Extensor Advisory Limited - 12
M Hotel revarsionary interest, Singapore CBRE PTE Limited - 3
Orchard Hotel reversionary interest, Singapore CBRE PTE Limited - 8
Claymore Connect reversionary interest, Singapore CBRE PTE Limited - 1

[14) 26

Based on these valuations together with such considerations as the Directors consider appropriate, there was a recorded revaluation
surplus of £26m and a revaluation deficit of £14m, resulting in a net revaluation surplus of £12m during 2022 (2021: net revaluation

surplus of £44m).
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Fair value hierarchy
The fair value measurement for investment properties not under construction of £551m (2021: £683m) has been categorised as a Level
3 fair value based on inputs to the valuation technique used.

Vaijuation technique and significant unobservabie inputs
The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment praperty, as well as significant
unobservable inputs used.

INTER-RELATIONSHIF BETWEEN KEY

VALUATION TECHNIQUES SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS UNOBSERVABLES INPUTS AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT
Biltmore Court & Tower, Los Angeles Biltmore Court 8 Tower, Las Angeles The estimated fair value woutd increase/{decrease) it

The pmperty was valued using the income approach which is Discount rate of 7.25% and capitalisation rale of
based on the potential income a propery can produce. The 6.25%.

methcds used by the valuers was the discounted cash flow

methad which analyses a property’s performance over an

investment horzon, Net cash flows from property cperations are

discounted al a rate reflective of the property's economic and

physical risk profile.

Lakeside Apariments, Sunnyvale, California Lakeside Apartments, Sunnyvale, Californla Expected market rental growth were higher/(lower), and
The property was valued using the income approach whith is Capitalisation rate of 4.00%

based cn the polential income a property can produce. The

methads used by the valuers was the Direct capitahisation method

This estimates the value of a property by analysing the

relationship between its stabilised rel operating income and Latal

praperty value The net operating income is capitalised at a rate

that considers expected growth in cash flow and property value

over the investcr's investment horizon.

Millennium Mitsul Garden Hotel, Takyo Miitennium Mitsui Garden Hotel, Tokyo Risk adjusted discount rate was lower/ (higher),
The property was valued using 2 disoounted cash flow lechmique Oiscount rate of 3.7% and capital N rate of captati rate was highers {{ower) and terminal yield
based on expected rental income and discount rate appropriate 3.9%. was lower/ (higher).

for the property.

tnvestment properties heid by the REIT were valued using the
discounled cash flow technique, capdafisation or comparison
techniques,

13 [nvastmaents in joint ventures and associates
The Group has the following investments in joint venlures and associates:

PRINCIPAL FAIR VALUE QF

PLACE OF OWNERSHIP EFFECTIVE GROUP INTEREST
BUSINESS INTEREST
£m 2022 2021
Joint ventures
New Unity Holdings Limited {("New Unity") Hong Kong - 50% 50%
Fergurson Hotel Management Limited Hong Kong - 50% 50%
New York Sign LLC New York - 50% 50%
Associate
Pecple’'s
First Sponsor Group Limited (“First Sponsor”) Republic of 257 35% 35%
China
. New
Prestons Road Linited Zealand - 17% 17%
COL Hospitality Trust ("COLHT") Singapore 260 27% 39%
CDL Hotels Japan Pte. Lid. Singapore - 40% 40%

On 24 May 2022, the Group disposed of part of the CDLHT units that it held to the holding company, which reduced the Group's interest
in COLHT from 38.89% to 27.30% resulting in the Group losing contral over COLHT. COLHT was deconsolidated o become an
associate of the Group.

The Group has 50% in New Unity which operates the Group's hotel business in Hong Kong. First Sponsor is a property company which
is listed on the Singapore Exchange and has interests in China, the Netherands, Germany, Italy and Australia. It is also involved in the
Chinese property financing business which catries additional risk of recoverability of certain assets.

39



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

JOINT VENTURES  ASSQCIATES TOTAL
£m £m £m

Share of net assets/cost
Balance at 1 January 2021 108 334 440
Share of {loss)profit for the year N 24 17
Disposals - {1) {1
Dividends received - {2) {2)
_F.oreign exchange adjustments 1 10 11
Balance at 31 December 2021 103 365 465
Batance at 1 January 2022 100 365 465
Additions - 257 257
Share of (lossYprofit for the year (6) 59 53
Disposals - (1) (1)
Dividends received - {10) (10)
Foreign exchange adjustments 11 22 33
Balance at 31 December 2022 105 692 797

The following is summarised financial information for CDL Hospitality Trust, First Sponsor and New Unity based on their respective
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. These are considered to be the most significant investments in jaint ventures

and associates.

CDL HOSPITALITY TRUST FIRST SPONSOR NEW UNITY
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-current assets 1,?11 - 1,568 1,256 400 372
Current assets 78 - 1,099 1,109 36 36
Non-current liabilities (614) - (659} (579) (118) (113)
Current liabilities — {188) - (824) {698} {37) {29)
Total assets less total liabilities 1,087 - 1,184 1,088 281 266
Less: Non-controlling interest {4) - (71) (64) {70) (67)
Net assets {100%) 1,083 - 1,113 1,024 211 199
Group's share 296 - 396 365 105 100
Ravenue B7 - 250 319 68 S0
Operating profit/(loss) 102 - i1 140 {1 (23)
Interest {expense) (3) - n (30) (2) (1)
Income tax (expense)/credit (1) - {34) (39) 4 5
Profit/(Loss) for the vear 98 - 80 71 (15) (19}
Non-cantrolling interests - - (4) {5) 4 <]
Proﬁtl(loss) for the year after non-controlling 98 ~ 76 56 “an (14
interests
_Other comprehensive iIncome 2 - (95) 46 - -
Profit/(loss) and tatal comprehensive
incomef{expense) (100%) 100 " (19} 112 (1 (14)
Group’s share of profit/(loss) and total
comprehensive incomet{expense) 27 - 7 40 (&) 0
Dividends received by the Group 4 - [ 2 - -

At 31 December 2022, the Group's share of the total capital commitrnents of joint ventures and associates amounted to £124m (2021:
£73m) and the Group's share of the non-cancellable operating leases receivable was £112m (2021: £35m}. The Group's joint ventures

and associates had no contingent liabilities (2021: £Nil).
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14 Other financial assets
2022 2021
£m £m
Equity investments 12 21
Derivative financial assets - 3
Deposits receivable 7 2
Amounts due from intermediate holding company 458 -
477 26

The amounts due from the intermediate holding company are non-trade in nature, unsecured and bear interest at 2.6% per annum.

15 Inventories
2022 2021
£m £m
Consumabies 4 5
16 Development properties
012 2021
£m £m
Development properties comprise:
Development lang for resale
— New Zealand residential sections 107 95
Development properties
— Zenith Residences 12 14
119 109
17 Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
£m £m
Trade receivables 64 39
Other receivables 65 25
Prepayments and accrued income 39 19
Amounts due from holding and associate companies 8 -
176 83

Trade receivables are shown net of an impairment allowance of £6m (2021: £8m) relating to the Iikely insoivencies of certain customers
and non-recoverability of debts.

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other recewables are disclosed in Note
20.

18 Cash and cash equivalents
2022 2021
£m £m
Cash at bank and in hand 53 325
Short-term deposits ’ 401 157
Cash pool overdrafts (193} {92)
Cash and cash equivalents on the statement of financial pasition 561 390
QOverdrafts included in borrowings - .
Cash and cash equivalents shown in the cash flow statement 561 390

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets are disclosed in Note 20. As at 31 December
2022, £3m (2021: £72m) of the cash balance was restricted.
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19 Interest-bearing toans, bonds and borrowings
2022 2621
£m £m
Included within non-current liabilities:
Bank loans 165 590
Bonds payable ) 62 84
227 674
Included within current liabilities:
Bank loans and overdrafis 284 540
Bonds payable - B
) 284 540

Net cash of £50m {(2021: net dedt of £{824)m) is the total of the cash and cash equivalents of £561m (2021: £390m) less the interest-bearing
loans, bonds and borrowings of £511m (2021: £1,214rm). Further details in respect of financial liabilities are given in Note 20.

20 Financial instruments

Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instrurments:
» credit risk;

« liquidity risk; and

» market risk

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, and the Group's policies and processes for measuring

{a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally frcm the Group's receivables from customers and investment securities.

Exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis, with credit checks performed on all clients requiring credit over certain amounts.
Credit is not extended beyond authorised limits, established where appropriate through consultation with a professional credit vetting
organisation. Credit granted is subject to regutar review, to ensure it remains consistent with the client’s current creditworthiness and
appropriate to the anticipated volume of business.

Investments are allowed only in liquid short-term instruments within approved limits, with investment counterparties approved by the Board,
such that the exposure te a single counterparty is minimised.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of each financial asset on the balance sheet, these being spread
across the various currencies and jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

CARRYING VALUE

2022 2021

£m £m

Amounts due from holding and associate companies (see Nate 14 and Note 17) 466 -
Short-term deposits (see Note 18) 401 157
Cash at bank and in hand (see Note 18) 53 325
Other current receivables {see Note 17) 65 25
Trade receivables (see Note 17) 64 39
Equity investments (see Note 14) 12 21
Deposits receivable (see Note 14) . 7 2
Derivative financial assets (see Note 14} - 3
Cash poo! overdrafts (see Note 18) (193) {92}
1,175 480

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

CARRYING VALUE

2022 2021

£m £m

Singapore 27 4
New York ' 186 5
Rest of UK/EU 6 14
Rest of Asia [ 9
Regional US 5 3
Australasia 4 4
64 39
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The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

GROSS RECEIVABLE

IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCE CARRYING VALUE

2022 2021 2022 2024 2022 2021

: £m £m £m £m £m £m

Not past due 28 17 (4) - 24 17
Past due 0 — 30 days 15 8 - - 15 8
Pasi due 31 — 60 days 7 1 . . 7 1
Past due 61 — 90 days 9 1 . . 9 1
More than 90 days 11 20 (2) (8) 9 12
70 47 (6) (8) 64 38

The movement in the allowance for impairmment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

2022 2021

£m £m

Batance at 1 January 8 12
Impaiment losses(reversal)/recognised (1} (1)
Bad debts written off {1 3
Balance at 31 December L] 8

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 2022

rotaL B MONTH?_S;S [ MOWYSE;\:Q 1.svears MORE T:;:;;
£m im £m £m £m
Financial Assets
Fixed Rate
US doltar 4 4 - . .
Korean won 58 58 - - -
Singapore dollar 683 220 - 463 -
Australian dollar 29 29 - - -
New Zealand dollar 58 58 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 4 4 - - -
Chinese Renminbi 1 1 - - -
Philippine Peso 2 2 - - -
Taiwan Dollar 25 25 - - -
Non-interest Bearing
US dollar 82 62 - . -
Stering 5 5 - - .
Korean won 3 3 - - .
Singapore doliar 47 35 - 12 -
Chinese Renminbi 3 3 - - -
New Zealand Dotlar 6 6 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 3 3 - - -
Euro 9 9 - B -
Japanese Yen 8 8 - - -
Phitippine Peso 3 3 - - -
indonesian Rupiah 3 3 - - -
Taiwan Doliar 2 - - 2 -
Others 1 1 - - -
Interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Sterling 35 as - . -
Japanese Yen 1 1 - - -
Singapore dollar 176 176 - . -
Total cash and other financial assets 1,231 754 - 477 -
Interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
Euro {40) (40) - . -
Hong Korng Dollar {186} {16) - - -
US dallar {116) (116) - - -
Stering (21) (21) - - -
Tatal overdrafts (Note 18) {193) {193} - - Z
1,038 561 - 477 -
Represented by:
Cash angd cash equivalents (Note 18) 561
Financial assets (Note 14} 477
1,038
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CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 2021

6§ MONTHS OR

6 MONTHS -1

—
MORE THAN 5

TQTAL LESS YEAR 1-5YEARS YEARS
Em £m £m £m £m
Financial Assets
Fixed Rate
US dollar 4 4 - - -
Korean Won - - - - -
Singapore dollar 55 N - 24 -
New Taiwan dollar 21 21 - - .
Ayetratian dollar 23 23 - - -
New Zealand dotlar 74 T4 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 2 2 - - -
Euro 2 - - 2 -
Cther 2 2 - - -
Non-interest Bearing
US dollar ~ 33 33 - - -
Sterling 17 17 - - -
Korean won 1 71 - - -
Singapore dollar 3 k) - - -
Austrafian dollar 25 25 - - -
New Zealand dollar 11 11 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 3 3 - - -
Chinese Renminbi . 5 5 - . -
Euro 10 10 - - -
Japanese Yen 10 10 - - -
Others 5 5 - - -
interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Singapore dollar a7 87 - - -
Non-interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Sterling 7 7 - - -
USE dollar - - - - -
Total cash and other financiat assets 508 482 - 26 -
Interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
US doliar (41) {41) - - -
Euro (37) {37) - - -
Hong Kong dollar {14) (14) - - -
Non-interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
Stering - - - - -
Total averdrafts {Note 18) {92) (92) - - -
_ 416 390 - 26 -
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents {(Note 18) 390
Financial assets (Note 14) 26
416

(b} Liguidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able lo meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's approach to managing
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurming unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments using the interest rates prevailing as

at the reporting date.
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CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

e e oy MONTHS OF B-12MONTHS  1-2vEARS  2.5vears MORETRERS
31 DECEMBER 2022 em £m £m £m Em £m £m
Floating rate financial liabilities
Secured loans 4 4 4 - - - -
Unsecured loans 445 459 28 192 1569 - -
Secured bonds 17 17 - - - 17 -
Unsecured bonds - - - - - - -
Fixed rate financial liabilities
Secured lpans - - - . . - -
Unsacured loans - - - - - - -
Secured bonds 45 45 - - - 46 -
Unsecured bends - - - - - - -
Trade and other payables
Trade payables 35 35 30 5 - - -
Other creditors 58 58 57 1 - - -
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities 15 15 - - . 1 14
619 634 189 198 169 64 14
CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
e MO O 6-12MONTHS  1-2YEARS  2-svEars MORE TARS
31 DECEMBER 2021 im £m £m £m £m £m £m
Floating rate financial liabilities
Secured loans as a8 38 - - - -
Unsecured loans 740 759 119 314 60 266 -
Secured bonds 17 18 - - - 18 -
Unsecured bonds - - - - - - -
Fixed rate financial liabilities
Uinsecured loans 314 327 3 114 70 140 -
Secured loans 38 40 1 - 1 i} -
Secured bonds ) 67 68 - - - 68 -
Trade and other payables
Trade payables 37 37 37 - - - -
Qther creditors 49 49 49 - - - -
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities a8 39 - - 2 26 11
1,338 1,375 247 428 133 556 11

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities

At 31 Decemnber 2022, the Group had £23m (2021: £258m) of undrawn and committed tacilities available, comprising committed revolving

credit facilities which provide the Graup with financial flexibility.
Maturity of these facilities are set out in the following table.

The conditions precedent to the availability of these facilities are all satisfied at the balance sheet date.

2022 2021

£m Em

Expiring in one year or less 23 119
Expiring after mere than one year but not more than two years - 45
Expiring after more than two years but not more than five years - 94
Expiring after more than five years - -
Total undrawn committed Dorrowing facilities 23 258
Total undrawn uncommitted borrowing facilities 276 365
Total undrawr: borrawing facilities 299 6§23

Security

Included within the Group’s total bank loans and overdrafts of £449m (2021: £1,130m) are £E4m (2021: £76m) of secured loans and

overdrafts Total bonds and notes payable of £62m (2021: £84m) consist of ENil unsecured (2021: £Nil).

Loans, bonds and notes are secured on land and buildings with a camying value of £254m {2021: £662m) and an assignment of insurance

proceeds in respect of insurances over the martgaged properties.
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Of the Group's total facilities of £811m, £573m matures within 12 months comprising of £149m committed revolving credit facilities, £309m
uncommitted facilities and overdrafts subject to annual renewal, £108m unsecured term loans and £7m secured term loans.

{c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group's

income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

The primary objectives of the treasury function are to provide secure and competitively priced funding for the activities of the Group and to
identify aid inanage financial risks, including exposure to movements in interest and toreign exchange rates arising from those activities. If
appropriate, the Group uses financial instruments and derivatives to manage these risks, as set out below.

{ Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency nsk on revenue, purchases, borrowings and cash deposits denominated in currencies other than
the functional currencies of the respective Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarity US dollars, Singapore dollars,
New Zealand dollars, New Taiwan dollars, Chinese renminbi, Japanese yen and Euro.

The Group's principal policy, wherever possible, is to maintain a natural hedge whereby liabilities are matched with assets denominated in
the same cumrency. Foreign currency investment exposure is also minimised by borrowing in the currency of the investment.

To miligate foreign currency translation exposure, an appropriate preportion of net assets are designated as hedged against corresponding
financial liabitities in the same currency.

Net investment hedging

The Group has US$5210m (2021: US$283m) US doliar loans and €45m (2021: €45m) Euro loans designated as hedges of correspanding
respective proportions of its net investment in foreign operations whose functional currencies are US dollars and Eurcs. The risk being
hedged is the foreigh currency exposure on the carrying amount of the net assets of the foreign operation upon consolidation. The fair value
of the hedging instruments as at 31 December 2022 was £213m (2021: £231m).

An analysis of borrowings by currency and their fair values as at 31 December 2022 is given below:

31 DECEMBER 2022 31 DECEMBER 2021

BOOK BOOK
VALUE FAIR VALUE VALUE FAIR VALUE
£m £m £m £m
Sterling 50 50 240 240
Singapore dollar - - 221 221
US dallar 395 395 570 570
New Zealand dollar - . 1 1
Chinese renminbi 4 4 ] B
Japanese yen 62 62 105 105
Karean Won - - 31 31
Euro - - 40 40
511 511 1,214 1214

Exchange differences arising on foreign currency foans during each accounting pericd are recognised as a companent of equity, to the extent
that the hedge is effective. The foreign exchange exposure arising on the Group's net investment in its subsidiaries is expected to be highly
effeclive in offsetting the exposure arising on the Group's foreign currency borrowings. However, during the year an immaterial amount
(2021: immaterial) was recognised in the consolidated income statement that arose from hedges of net investments in foreign operations that

were considered to be ineffective.

Foreign currency transaction exposure is primarily managed through funding of purchases from operaling income streams arising in the
same currency.

Hedging of transaction exposure is undertaken with approved counterparties and within designated limits, using spct or short-term forward
contracts 1o buy or sell the currency concerned, once the liming and the underlying amount of exposure have been determined. Foreign
exchange derivatives may also be used to hedge specific transaction exposure where appropriate.
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The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

AVERAGE RATE CLOSING RATE

2022 2021 2022 2021
US dollar 1.242 1.37% 1.209 1.344
Singapore dolar 1.709 1.847 1.627 1.820
New Taiwan dollar 36.823 38.389 37.135 37.439
New Zealand dollar 1.944 1.948 1.918 1.973
Malaysian ringgit 5452 5696 §.346 5617
Korean won 1590.875 1570.153 1538.789 1596.316
Chinese renminbt 8.347 8.882 8423 8.560
Euro 1173 1.162 1.136 1.187
Japanese yen 161.189 150.122 160.721 154.351

Sensitivity analysis

With respect to the Group's foreign currency exposure, and assuming that ail other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant, it is
estimated that a 10% strengthening of sterling against the following currencies at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 10%) would have
increasedi{decreased) equity and profit before tax by the amounts shown befow:

31 DECEMBER 2022 31 DECEMBER 2021

PROFIT PROFIT

EQUITY BEFORE EQUITY BEFORE

TAX TAX

£m £m £m £m

US doilar 43 (2) a5 (3)
Austratian dollar - - (4} -
Singapore dollar {38} 18 6 -
New Taiwan dollar ) . \ !
New Zealand dollar - 3 M (3)
Euro 4 - {3) -
Chinese renminbi (4) (6} (4) (2)
Korean wan - 50 - 4
Hong Kong dollar - {1) . -
Japanese yan - - 4 -
Philippine Peso - 1 - .
5 63 33 (&)Y

A 10% weakening of sterfing against the above currencies at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 10%) would have had the equal but
opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that ail other variables remain constant.

(i) Interest rate risk and interest rate swaps

The Group adopts a policy of ongoing review of its exposure to changes in interest rates on its borrowings, taking into account market
expectations with regard to the perceived level of risk associated with each currency, the maturity profile and cash flows of the underlying
debt, and the extent tc which debt may potentially be either prepaid prior o its maturity or refinanced at reduced cost.

The Group's policy is to maintain a mixture of its financial liabilities on a fixed and floating-rate basis with a greater emphasis on floating rates
presently as this flexibility is considered to be appropriate in the context of the Group's overall geographical diversity, investment and
business cycle and the stability of the income streams, cash balances andg loan covenants.

Interest rate derivatives are used to manage interest rate risk, to the extent that the perceived cost is considered to outweigh the benefit from
the flexibility of variable rate borrowings, and the Group actively monitors the need and timing for such derivatives. Where used, interest rate
derivatives are classified as cash flow hedges and stated at fair vaiue within the Group’s consolidated statement of financial positon. Further
details of interest rate derivatives in place at 31 December 2021 are provided hereafter.

d) Fair value
Set out below is a comparisen of the fair and book values of all the Croup's financial instruments by category. Fair values are determined by
reference to market values, where available, or calculated by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates.
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2022 2022 2021 2021

BAOK VALUE FAIR VALUE BOOK VALUE FAIR VALUE

£m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand 353 353 325 325
Short-term deposits 401 401 157 157
Cash pool overdrafts (193) {193) (92) (92)
Loans and receivables
I rade recewvables ! 64 64 39 39
Amounts due from holding and associate companies 466 466 - -
Cther recoivables 65 65 25 25
Other financial assets
Equity investments 12 12 21 21
Derivative financial assets - - 3 3
Deposits receivable 7 7 2 2
1,175 1,175 480 480
Financial liabilities -
Overdrafts and borrowings . (511) {(511) (1,214) (1,214)
Trade payables {35} (35) {37} (37)
Other creditors {58) (58) (49} (49)
Other non-current liabilities {15) {15) (38) (38)
{619) {619) (1,338) (1,338)

Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments reflected in the

table.

Derivatives
Forward exchange contracts are either marked to market using listed market prices or by discounting the contractual forward price and
deducting the current spot rate. For interest rate swaps, bank valuations are used.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows.

Finance lease liabilities .

The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at market interest rates for similar lease agreements. The
estimated fair values refiect changes in interest rates.

Trade and other receivables/payables

For receivables/payables with a remaining hfe of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to reflect the fair value. All other
receivables/payables are discounted to determine the fair value.

Interest rates used for determining fair value
Prevailing market interest rates are used to discount cash flows to determine the fair value of financial assets and liabilites.

Fair value hierarchy
As at 31 December 2022, the Group held certain financial instruments measured at fair value.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technigque:

Level 1 CQuoted {unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair vaiue are observable, aither directly or

Level 2 indirectly.

Techniques that use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on cbservable market

Level 3 data.

The table below provides a hierarchy analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value:
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2022 2021
LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Equity investment at o o -
FVOCI " ) " - - N - -
Equity investment at ;
FVTPL - 12 - 12 - 18 - 18
Cross-currency interest . ) . . 2 i 2
rate swaps
Assets - 12 - 12 - 20 - 20
Cross-Currency interest
rate swaps - . N ° - ) b -
Interest rate swap - - - - - - - -
Liabilities - - - - . . - -

During the year ended 31 December 2022 there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers
into and out of Level 3 fair value measures.

Capital management

The Board's palicy is to maintain a strong capital hase so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future
development of the business. The Company's objechve for managing its capital is to ensure that Group entities will be able to continue as a
geing concern while maximising the return to shareholders, as well as sustaining the future development of its business. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may alter the total amount of dividends paid to sharehglders, return capital to shareholiders, issue
new shares, draw down additional debt or reduce debt.

The Group's capital structure consists of debt, which includes the loans and borrowings disciosed in Note 19, cash and cash aquivalents
disclosed in Note 18 and the equity attributable to the paremt, comprising share capital, reserves and retained earnings, as disclosed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. The Group seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital pasition.

43



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
21 Employee benefits

Pension arrangemants
The Group operates various funded pension schemes which are established in accordance with local conditions and practices within the countries
cancerned. The most significant funds are described below.

United Kingdom

The pension arrangements in the United Kingdorn operate under the ‘Millennium & Copthorne Pension Plan’, which was set up in 1983. The plan operates
a funded defined benefit arrangement logether with a defined contnbution plan, both with different categories of membership. The defined benefit section
of the plan was closed to new entrants in 2001 and at the same time rights to a Guaranieed Minimum Pension {"GMPs") under the defined contribution
scheme also ceased. The plan entities a retired emplioyee to receive &n annual pension paymeri.

The contributions required are determined by a gqualified actuary on the basis of tnennial valuations using the prejected unit credit method. The last full
actuarial vaiuation of this scheme was carried oul by a qualified independent actuary as at & April 2020 and this has been updated on an approximaie
basis to 31 December 2022. The contribulicns of the Group during the year were about 36.30% (2021 11%]) of pensicnable salary.

As the defined benefit section is closed lo new entrants, the current service cost, as a percentage of pensionable payroll is likely to increase as the
membership ages, although it will be applied to a decreasing pensionable payrall. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results of
the valuation are those relating to the discount rate and the rales of increase in salaries and pensions.

The total pension obligation for the UK pension plan has decreased from the prior year to £50m (2021: £76m). This has been driven by the rise in bond
yields in the UK and as a result of this, the value of the bonds and liability-driven investment instruments held, £48m {2021: £67m), has decreased. This is
due to the increased bond yield/cost of borrowing, resulting in a lack of willingness ameng investors to own debt. Due to the current period of high inflation
experience across the global economy, this could be a significant actuarial assumplion when computing financial data for the plan. Despite the high level
of inflation as at 31 December 2022 it is assumed as that future inpacts of the high inflation environment are cumrently minimal as it 1s assumed that
Inflation will retumn to a rate closer to the Bank of England target of approximately 2% per annum in future periods.

During the cumrent year there has been significant events in the UK and global economy which have had an adverse effect on pension funds liquidity as a
whole . The plan was not significantly affected by these events and liquidity is not envisioned to be a significant area of risk because of the sufficient
liquidity of assels held by the plan and the sufficient liquidity of the group if required.

The plan's assets are mainly composed of bonds and liability driven Investments (LOI). This forms a natural hedge between the plan's assets and
obligaticns against inlerest rales and bond markel movemenls similar o events seen in 2022. The plan does not employ any more complex forms of
hedging arrangements of specific instruments.

South Korea
The group sold its Saulh Korean Hotel rasulting in the closure of its defined benefit pension scheme and payment being made (o the new owners of the

scheme

Taiwan

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan for its employees in Taiwan. The contribulions required are delermined by an external qualified actuary
using the projected unil credit method. The mast recent valuation was carried aut on 31 December 2022, The contributions of the Group were na less than
6% (2021: 6%} of the employees’ earnings. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results of the valuatons are these reialing to
the discount rate and rate of increase in salaries.

The defined benefit plans are admiristered by pension funds that are legally separated from the Group. The boards of the pension funds are required by
law to act in the best interests of the plan participants.

These defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuanai risks, such as longevity risk, currency sk, interest rate risk and market investment nisk.

The atove plans are substantially funded by the Group's subsidiaries. The funding requirements are based on the pension funds’ actuarial measurement
framework set out in the funding policies of the plans.

The assets of each scheme have been taken at markel value and the liabilities have been calculated using the following principal assumptions.

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021

UK SOUTH KOREA TAIWAN UK SOUTH KOREA TAIWAN

tnflation rate 3.30% - - 3.50% - -

Discounl rate 4.90% . 1.50% 1.70% 2.75% 0.50%

Rate of salary increase 3.80% - 3.00% 4.00% 0.00% 300%

Rate of pension increases 3.10% - - 3.30% - -
Rate of ravaluation 2.75% - - 2.95% -

The methaodology for computing the discount rate is the yieltd range method.

The assumptions used by the actuaries are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuanal assumptions, which due o the timascale
covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice. The present values cf the schemes' liabilities are derived from cash flow projections over long
periods and are inherently uncertain

Reasanably possible changes at the reporting date (o one of the relevant actuanal assumptions, holding ather assumplions cansistent, would have allered
the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below:
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OEFINED BENEFIY OBLIGATIONS

2022 2022 2021 2021

INGREASE  DECREASE INCREASE DECREASE

£m £m Em £m

Discount rate {25 bps movement) 2 {1) 3 (3)
Rale of salary increase (25 bps mavement) - - - -
Price infiaticn rate (25 bps movement} (1) 1 (1) 1
Post retirement mortality assumpfion (25 bps movement) 2 (2) 4 (4}

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distnbution of cash flows expected under the plans,
sensitivity of the assumptions shown.

Amounts recognised on the balance sheet are as foliows:

it does provide an approximation of the

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
UK SOUTH KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL UK SQUTH KGREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL
Em £ £m £m £m Em £m Em Em Em
Present value of
funded obligations 50 - 5 ¥ 56 L 3 s 1 86
Fair value af plan
assels {48) . {4 . (52) (67) @) @) - 73
Plan deficit 2 - 1 1 4 10 - 2 1 13
Changes in the preseni value of defined berefit obhigations are as follows:
2022 2022 2022 22 2022 2021 201 2021 2029 2024
UK SOUTH KOREA TAIWAN OTHER ToTAL UK SOUTH KOREA TAIWAN OTHER roTaL
£m Em Em £m £m £m £Em £m £m £m
Balance at 1 77 3 5 1 86 79 4 6 2 o1
January
Current service cost - - - - - - - - . -
Past sarvice cost - - - - - - - - (1) Q)]
Inlerest cost 1 - . - 1 1 - - 1
Benefits paid, death
in service insurance
B . 1 .
premmms and @ ) 3 M () m @
expenses
Remeasuremant losses! (gains} arising from:
— Financial
assumptions 30 - " * 0 3) ) ) ° )
— Experience
adjustment 4 h " - 4 - °
— Demographic
assumptions - (2) - " @ 1 ) - 1
Balance at 31 50 . 5 1 56 7 3 5 1 86
December
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
2022 2022 2022 2022 201 2021 2024 2021
S0UTH
UK KOREA TAIWAN TOTAL UK SOUTH KOREA TAIWAN TOTAL
£m £m £m Em Em Em Em Em
Ralance at 1 January &7 3 3 73 &7 4 4 75
Interest income 1 - . 1 1 - . 1
Group contnbutions 2 - - 2 - - . -
Benefits paia @ A . {s) m M m 3
Remeasurement gains arising from:
~ Return/(ioss} on plan asgsets excluding
interes! income (2m) - 1 {19) . _ R
Balance at 37 December 48 - 4 52 B7 3 3 73
Actual return/{loss) on plan assets {19) . 1 (18) 1 - — 1
2022 2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2021
S0UTH
ux WOREA TAWAN TOTAL UK SOUTH KOREA TAIWAN TOTAL
£m £m Em £m £m £m Em £m
Quoted equities 24 - - 24 [) - - ]
Bonds [ - . [ 1 3 . 14
Liability driven investment 12 - - 12 - - . -
Cash and cash equivalents 5 - 4 10 47 - 3 50
48 - 4 52 67 3 3 73
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The Group values plan assets in accordance with IAS 19 as folfows:

+ Queted equities listed on recognised stock exchanges are valued at closing bid prices:;

« Bonds are measured using pricing modeis making assumptions for credit risk, market risk and market yreld curves;
= Properties are valued an the basis of the open market value; and

= Liabilty driven investmenis are measured based on the present value of the fixed liability

The expense recagrised in the income statement is as follows

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2021 o021 20 2023 2021

UK SOUTH KOREA TAWAN OTHER TOTAL UK SOUTH KOREA TAWAN OTHER TOTAL

Em #m £m £m Em Em £m £m £m £m

Current service cost - - - - - - - R - -
Interest cost 1 - - - 1 1 - - - 1
Inierest income {1) - - - (1) {1) - - - (1)

Total cost is recognised within the following items in the income siatement:

2022 2021
£m £m
Administrative expenses . -
The gains or losses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follpws:
022 2022 2022 2022 w2 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
UK SOUTH KOREA TAMAN OTHER TOTAL UK SOUTH KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL
£m £m £m £m Em £m £m £m Em £m
Actual return less
expected return on {2 - - 1 {19) - - - - -
plan assets
Remeasurement (losses) gains arising from:
- Financial
assumptions 30 ) - ) % 3 . ) 3
- Expetience
adjusiment 4 ) “
- Demagraphic
assumptions 2 - : 2 m ) ) m
Defined benefit plan
remeasurement [} 2 - 1 ] 2 - - - 2
gains .
Actuarial losses recagnised directly in equity are as follows:
2022 2021
£m £m
Cumulative as at 1 January 19 21
Remeasuramant gains recognised during the year {9) (2)
Cumulative as at 31 December 10 19
The life expectancies underlying the vaiue of the accrued liabilities for the UK Plan, based on retirement age of 65, are as follows:
2022 2021
Yeoars Yaars
Males 22 22
Females 24 24

The weightad-average duration of the defined benefit obligations as at 31 Decernber 2022 was 12 years (2021: 17 years). The Group expects abaut
£5.2rm in conbributions to be paid to the defined benefit plans in 2023. The decreased weighted-average duration has reduced over in comparisan to the
prier year due to market condilions, higher bond yields and the ageing of the members and has resuited in the movement in discount, 4.90% (2021:
1 70%), and inflation rate, 3.30% (2021: 3.50%) assumptions.

The Group monitoss the deficit of the fund and believes any risk associated with the deficit is mitigated by the Group’s sirong balance sheet positian.

Share-based payments

The Group used o operate a number of share option schemes, a majority being designed 1o link remuneration to the future performance of the Group. In
accordance with the Group's accounting policy 2 2N{iv) on share-based payment transactions, the fair value of share options and long-term incentive
awards is recognised as an employee expense with a correspending increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spréad over the
period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the share options and long-term incentive awards. The charge to the income
staternent for the year was £nil (2021: £nil).
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The Group has applied IFRS 2 to its active emplayee share-based payment arrangements from 1 January 2005 except for arrangements granted before
7 Novernber 2002,

There were no options granted during 2021 in line with the Final Offer made by CDL in 2019 and any outstanding options are to close out per the final
vesting dates.

(i Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited 2006 Long-Term incentive Plan (“LTIP"}
There ware no options outstanding at the end of the current or previous year in line with the Final Offer executad by CDL in 2019

(i} MILLENNIUM & CCPTHORNE HOTEL LIMITED 2006 and 2016 SHARESAVE SCHEMES
There were nc options outstanding at the end of the current or previous year in fine with the Final Offer executed by CDL in 2019,

(iii} ANNUAL BONUS PLAN (“ABP"}

Under the ABP, deferred share awards were granted annually lo selected employees of the Group. Shares in Milennium & Copthorne Hotels plc (now a
cash selttement made by Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited subsequent to delisting) are transferred to pacicipants as follows if they cordinue to be
amployed by the Group:

« 25% after years one and two; and

« 50% aftar three years.

AWARDS
AWARDS AWARDS FORFEITED!  AWARDS

AWARDS AWARDEO VESTED EXPIRED CUTSTANOING  GREDITEC TG~ CREOMED TO

OUTSTANDING DJRING THE BURING THE DURING THE AS AT 11. DEC- SHARE CAPITAL  SHARE PREMIUM
OATE OF AWARDS AS ATO1-JAN-2Z2 YEAR YEAR YEAR w022 £m £m VESTING DATES
13.05.2016 195 . B (196) - 13.05.2017J16/19
14.12,2018 12.9% - (12.999) {391) - - 14.12.2019/20r21
13.08.2019 17,551 - {6,815) (695} 10,040 - 13.08.2020/21/22
13.08.2022 10,040 - (9,171) (869) - 13.08 2022

0,7 - (28,588) (2,151} - -

{iv) Executive Share Plan {"ESP"}

The ESP was approved by the Company on 18 February 2016 to replace participation in the LTIP by senior executive management. These awards will
vesl aver a three-year period {25% after years one and two, 50% after three years), subject {o the rules of the ESP

AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS

OUTSTANOING  AWARDED VESTED FORFEJER  EXPIRED CUTSTANDING CREDFEDTC  CREOMTEQ TO

ASATO1-IAN-  OURING THE  DURING THE  OURING THE  OURING THE AS AY 1. DEC. SHARE CAPITAL SHARE PREMIUM
CATE OF AWARDS 2022 YEAR YEAR YEAR YEAR 2022 Em VESTING DATES
04.12.2018 7.341 . - (7.381) . - - 1412.2079720021
08.08.2019 9,367 - {7,287) 2,080 - - 09.08.2020r2722
09.08.2022 2,080 . {2,080} . - - 09/08/2022

16.783 - (2,080} 16,708 - =

At the year end, options of 10,040 and 2 080 ordinary shares were settted with cash under the ABP and ESP respectively. Holders of these aptions
recaived a cash payment for a fixed price of £6.85 in line with the Final Offer executed by CDL an the date of exarcise, as such no shares were awarded

in year

Awards/options granted
Tha following awards/aptions were granted n the year ended 31 December 2022:

AWARDIOPTIONS GRANTED SHARE PRICE
PERIS carces
NOK- o PRICE FAR VALUE EXPECTED TERM EXPECTED EAPECTED REISK FREE
2019 AWARDS DIRECTOR orector £ £ (YEARS) VCLATLTY DIVIDEND YEILD  INTEREST RATES
Executive Share Plan 09.08.2019 - 7,538 68 - 6.85 1 - - -
Executiva Share Pian 09.08.2019 - 7538 68 - 6.85 2 - - -
Executive Share Plan 09.08 2019 - 15,075 68 - 6.85 3 - - -
Z":ea"“” ve Scheme 09.04.2019 - 93,436 544 375 IRY} 13 26.00% 0.95% 0.72%
(SS";'::“ Schema 0804.2019 - 1.040 444 3185 128 531 26 00% 0.95% D82%
Defered Share Awards 13.08.2019% - 8.931 6.8 - 6.85 1 - - -
Deaterred Share Awands 13.08.2019 - 8931 63 - 6.B5 2 - - -
Deferred Share Awards 13.08.2018 - 17.862 6.8 - 6.85 3 - - -

Measurement of fair value
The Sharesave awards in 2013 were valued using the Black-Scholes valuation method.
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22 Provisions
RELING KOREA CAPITAL
LEGAL INDEMNITY PROVISION EXPENDITURE TOTAL
£m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2022 5 9 38 - 52
Frovisicns made 8 - 7 9 24
Provisions utilised - - {11 3) (14)
Disposal of subsidiary - - - 5) (5
Foreign exchange adjustments 1 1 2__ 4
Balance at 31 December 2022 14 10 36 1 61
Analysed as:
Non-current pravision - 10 - - 10
Current provision 14 - 36 1 51
Total provision 14 10 36 1 61

Provision for legal fees as at 31 December 2022 of £14m (2021: £5m) relates to disputes in severa! hotels. The Beijing indermnnity of
£10m (2021: £9m) relates to the tax indemnity to the former sharehclders of Grand Millennium Hote! Beijing in which the Group
acquired an additional 40% interest in 2010.

The Korea provision relates to the Group's obligations under certain contracts in respect of Millennium Hilton Seoul and represents the
estimated costs to be incurred arising from the proposed sale of Millennium Hilton Seoul. As at 31 December 2021, the provision was
based on management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle its obligations under the relevant contracts based on its
negotiations with the counterparties to-date. The estimated amount might be revised upon the finalisation of negotiations. The sale of
Millennium Hiltan Secul was completed during the current financial year. As at 31 December 2022, further provision was provided as
the amount was finalised. The Group has settled part of the cosls in 2022 and has settled the remaining amount subsequent to the
reporting date. The Group would be fully reimbursed by the buyer of Millennium Hilton Seoul for the amount incurred in respect of its
obligations under the relevant contracts. The estimated additional costs recognised during the year of £7m (2021: £39m) has been
netted against the corresponding reimbursement from the buyer of £41m in the consclidated income statement.

The provision for capital expenditure reiates to the Group's obligations to incur capita! expenditures under the terms of the certain hotel
aperating agreements.

23 Other non-current liabilities
2022 2021
£m £m
Amgount owing to intermediate holding company - 25
Other liabilities 15 13
Total non-current liabilities 15 38
24 Deferred taxation
Movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets (prior to offsetting balances) during the year are as follows:
CHARGEDKCREDITED) TO
INCOME STATEMENT
ACQUISITION RRENT YEAR
MR e RPosaor O S RANSLATION DECEMaER 7022
£m £m £m £m £m £m
"Deferred tax liabilities
Property assets’ 220 - (10) (3) 18 225
Unremitted earnings - - - a7 - a7
220 - (10} 84 18 M2
“Deferred tax assets
Tax losses (142) - 5 24 {6) (119)
Others (6) - 3 R . (3)
(148) - 8 24 (6} {122)
Net deferred tax liabilities 72 - (2] 108 12 190
1 Property assets comprise plant, property and equipment and investment properties.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilites and when deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority. The amounts determined after appropriate offsetting, are as

follows:
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2022 2021

£m £m

Defarred tax assets . 5
Deferred tax liabilities {190) {77)
{190} {72)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits.

2022 2021

£m £m

Tax losses 74 {32)
Adjustments due to:

— Deductible temporary differences in respect of prior year 14 -

— Tax losses in respect of pricr year - 62

B8 30

The deductible temporary differences do rot expire under current tax legistation. The tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax
authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the respective countries in which certain subsidiaries operate.

The gross tax losses with expiry dates are as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m

Expiry dates:
= within 1 to 5 years 20 42
— after 5 years 7 3
— No expiry date 221 100
248 145

At 31 December 2022, a deferred tax liability of E13m (2021: £4m) relating to undistributed reserves of overseas subsidiaries and joint
ventures of £1,370m (2021: £888m) has not been recognised because the Group determined that the distributions will not be made and
the liability will not be incurred in the foreseeable future.

25 Trade and other payables
2022 2021

£m £Em
Trade payables 3s 37
Other creditors including taxation and social security:
— Sccial security and other {axes 15 16
- Value added tax and similar sales taxes 24 5
— Other creditors 1" 24
Accruals 104 85
Deferred income 5 7
Contract liabilities 15 84
Rental and other deposits 3 4
Amounts owing to holding and associates companies 5

217 262

The Group's expasure to curmency and hiquidity risks refated to trade and other payables are disclosed n Note 20.
26 Dividends

No dividend was paid during 2022 (2021: Nil). Subsequent to 31 December 2022, the Directors have not declared any dividends that
have been provided for previcus periods.

27 Share capital
Number of 30p shares aflotted,
called up and fully pald
Balance at 1 January 2022 324,950,812
Issue of ordinary shares on exercise of share optons -
Balance at 31 December 2022 324,950,812
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All of the share capital is equily share capital. Holders of these shares are entitied to dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitied to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All rights attached to the Company's shares held by the Group are
suspended until those shares are reissued.

At the year end, options of 10,040 and 2,080 ordinary shares were settled with cash under the ABP and ESP respectively. Holders of
these options received a cash payment on the date of exercise, as such no shares were awarded in year.

2B Reserves

Cash flow hedge reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow instruments related to

the hedged transactions that have not yet occurred (net of tax).

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations, as well as from the transtation of liabilities that hedge the Group's net investment in foreign operations {net of tax).

Treasury share reserve
No shares were held by the employee benefit trust at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve includes the curnulative change in the fair value of equity investrments at FYOCL.

29 Financial commitments
2022 2021
£m £m
{a) Capital commitments at the end of the financial year which are contracted but not provided far 38 87

(b) The Group leases out certain of its properties under operating leases. The future minimum lease rentals receivable by the Group
under non-canceliable leases are as follows:

2022 2021

£m £m

- less than one year 9 17
- one to two years 9 13
— two to three years 8 12
— three to four years 7 12
— four to five years 6 11
— mare than five years 12 68
51 133

The Group's share of capital commitments and non cancellable lease commitments of joint ventures and associates is shown in Note
13.

Future minimum lease rentals receivable under non-cancellable leases inciudes all future rentals receivable up to the period when those
leases expire or become cancellable.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, £24m (2021: £22m) was recognised as rental income in the income statement and
£2m (2021: £2m) in respect of repairs and maintenance was recognised as an expense in the income statement relating to investment

properties.

30 Contingencies and subsequent events .
In the course of its operations the Group is rautinely exposed to potential liabilities for claims made by employees and contractual or
torticus claims made by third parties. No material losses are anticipated from such exposures. There were no contingent liabilities or
guaranteas other than those arising in the ordinary course of business and on these no material losses are anticipated. The Group has
insurance cover up to certain limits for major risks on property and major claims in connection with legal liabilities arising in the course
of its operations. Otherwise the Group generally carries its own risk. The Group believes that the accruals and provisions carmied on the
balance sheet are sufficient to cover these risks.
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On 22 March 2023, the Group entered into a property sale agreement and business asset sale agreement with a third party to acquire a
hote! in Brisbane, Ausbtralia, logether with its existing business assets for a combined consideration of approximately £99.4m
(A$177.7m). The completion of the acquisition, which is subject to the fulfiment of severai conditions precedents as stipulated in the
agreement_1s expected in the second half of 2023, This acquisition will be funded through internal cash resources and credit facilities.

On 28 June 2023, the Group entered into a real property sale and purchase agreement with a third party to acquire the freehold interest
in a hotel in Seoul, South Korea for a consideration of approximatety £84.1m {KRW 140billion). The acquisition was funded by internal
cash resources and completed on 3 July 2023.

On 30 June 2023, the Group entered into a real property purchase and sale agreement with a third party 10 acquire the freehcld interest
in a hotel in Osaka, Japan for a consideration of approximately E46.6m (JPY8.5killion). The completicn of the acquisition is expected in
the third quarter of 2023. This acquisition wil' be funded through internal cash resources and credit facility.

31 Related parties

ldentity of related parties

Transaclions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on censolidation and are not disclosed in this note.
Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below. All transactions with related parties were
entered into in the normal course of business and at arm's length. The Group has a related party relationship with its joint ventures,
associatas and with its directors and executive officers

Transactions with ultimate holding company and other related companies

The Group has a related party relationship with certain subsidiaries of Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd (“Hong Leong”) which
is the ultimate holding and controliing company of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited and holds 100% (2021: 100%) of the
Company's shares via CDL, the intermediate holding company of the Group .

Transactions with related companies of shared directorship.

A related party relationship exists between Millennium & Copthorne International Limited ("MCIL"), a subsidiary company, and
Millennium & Copthome Middle East Holdings Limited ("MCMEHL"), a related party. This relationship is defined by the shared
directorship of the Company's director, Mr. Ali Alzaabi. During the current financial year, fees have been payable ynder a License and
Services Agreement between MCIL and MCMEHL, this agreement has existed since 31 December 2016 and was renewed on 20 April
2021. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had the fellowing transactions with those subsidiaries and related
companies.

2022 2021

Interest income received and receivable from: £m £m
- intermediate holding company - (9)
Management services fee received and receivable from:
- fellow subsidiaries (1)
- associates (5) -

) (6) -
Maintenance services fees paid and payable to:
- fellow subsidiaries 2 1
Rental expenses paid and payable to:
- associates 26 .
Surplus cash deposited to:
- fellow subsidiaries - 4
Cash repayment for licence fees from:
- companies of shared directorship 1 -
Qutstanding licence fees from:
- companies of shared directarship ] 9
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Transactions with key management personnel

in addition to Lheir salaries, the Group also provides non-cash benefits to Directors and executive officers and contributes ta a post-
employment defined contribution plan depending on the date of commencement of empioyment. The defined contribution plan does not
have a specified pension payable on retirement and benefits are determined by the extent to which the individual's fund can buy an

annuity in the market at retirement

The key management personnel compensation is as fallows:

2022 2021

£m £m

Short-term empioyee benefits 1 2
Directors - -
Executives 1 2
1 2
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3z Related undertakings

The full list of the Company's related undertakings as at 31 December 2022 are set out below:

Sharehoiding Country of Registered office . -
Py 1 Ay
Full Name percentage Type incomparation address rincipal Activities
7900 East Union
Indirect Avenue, Suite 500 .
A ity Int 1s Inc. N '
rcoa Equity Interests Inc. 100% subsidiary USA Denver. Colorado, Holding Company
BO237
7960 East Union
N ) Indirect Avenue, Suite 500, .
Aircoa GFP Carporation 100% subsidiary USA Denver, Colorada, Haotel ownership
B0237
7900 East Union
. o Indirect Avanue, Suite 500, .
Aircoa, LLGC 100% subsidiary usa Oenver, Colorado. Holding Company
80237
\nairect Level 13, 280 Queen
Afi Seasons Hotels & Resorts Limited 76% l::sld' New Zealand  Street, Auckland Dormant
subsidiary 1010, New Zealand
7900 Eas! Unicn
L ndirect Avenue, Suite 500,
- 34 M
Anchorage-Lakefront Limiled Partnership 100% Subsidiaty USA Denver, Colorado. Hotel owner
80237
Carporate
. . Headquarters,
Archyieid Limited 100% "“::’:,' :é"“iim Scarsdale Place. :c"::':"e' and
subsidiary g Kensington, London pe
w8 58y
: Direct Schulhof 6/1stfl, .
ATOS Holding Gmb 100% subsidiary Austna 1010 Vienna, Austria Investment holding
7900 East Union
] Indiract Averue, Suite 500, .
Inn O ' '
Aurara Inn Qperating Partnership | P 100% subsidiary uUsa Denver, Cotoradc, Hatel ownership
80237
7800 East Unien
Indirect Avenue, Suite 560, .
I . 3 \ .
Avon Wynfield Inn, Lid, 100% subsidiary UsA Denver, Colorada, Hotel ownership
80237
7900 East Union
Indirect Avenue, Suite 500
A Wynfietd s A
von Wynfietd LLC 100% subsidiary UsSA Denver, Colorado, Hotel cwner
80237
Buikding No 5, ¥
. Pecpie’s DongSanHuan Middle
Beijing Fortune Hotel Co. Ltd. T0% Im:rg:_t Regpublic of Road, Chaoyang :lclel gner and
subsidiary China District, Beijing pera
P R.China 100020
7300 East Union
. Indirect Avanue, Suite 500 N
1 Place Operatiot 100% ' '
Biltmore Place Operations Corp 00% subsidiary USA Denver, Colorado, Liquor icence halder
80237
7900 East Union
. o . Ingizect Avenue, Suite 500
H . .
Baostonian Hotel Limited Parinership 100% subsidiary USA Denver, Cokorado, Hotel owner
80237
7900 East Union
. indirect Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo Operating Parnarship L. % ) Previ
o Ope g ] 100% subsidiary USA Derver, Colorade, reviously hotel owner
80237
7900 East Union
indirect Avenue, Suite 500,
Buffalo RHM Operaling LLC 100% subsidiary USA Denver, Colorada, Hatel owner
80237
7990 East Union
indirect Avenue, Suite 500.
CDL {New York)LLC '
{ ) 100% subsidiary usa Cerver, Colorade, Hotei awner
30237
7900 East Union
L Indiract Avenue, Suite 500,
CDL (NYL) Limited 100% subsidiary UsAa Denver, Colorado, Investment helding
80237
. . 9 Raffles Place #12-  Provision of
CDL Entertainment & Leisure Ple Ligd 100% :':;;?:l"_’ g;pl;bhcr:f 03 Republe Plaza Management services
ry gapa Singapore 048619 and investment nolding
. Associated Repubhc of .
) 7 1
CDL Hospitality Trusts 2% undenakings  Singapore See note below See nole below
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Shareholding Cauntry of Registered office § ——
Full Name T t Activit
percentage ype incerporatian  eddress Prncipet Activities
Comporate
" . Headquarters,
CDL Matcls. (Cholses) Limited 100%  dredt bnited Scarsdale Place,  Torelawnerand
subsidiary Kingdom . apemtcr
Kensington, London
W8 58Y
JF, Seoul Finance
. " Centre, 136
COL Hotels (Korea) Ltg. wow  ~eree poplel  Sojomgdaem. dung  hiooe owner and
subsidiary orea gu, Seout, Korea ope
04520,
Wndirect ToraLabuan. Jalan () oner and
CDU Hetels (Labuan) Limited 100% b :ﬂﬂ Malaysia Tanjung Batu, 87000 “or
subsidlary F.T. Labuan, Malaysia aperala
12th Flgor, Menara
Symphony, NG.§,
Ingirect Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Hotel owner and
COL Htefs {Malaysia) San. Bhd. w00% e Malaysia Kim, Seksyer 13, Pl
b 46200 Petaling Jaya, orC
Selangar Daryt Ehsan,
Mataysia
Coarporate
. " Headquarters,
CDL Hotels (U.K.) Limited 100% Mot ped Scarsdale Placs, o owre! 21
s idiary 9 Kernsington, London operator
W8 58Y
2303 Great Eagle
. . ingirect Centre, 23 Harbour -
CDU Hotefs Holdi
e ings Japan Limited 100% subsidiary Hong Xong Road, Wanchai, Hong investrmeni holding
Kong
Indirect Level 13, 280 Queen
CDL Holels Haldings New Zealand Limited 100% e New Zealand  Sireet, A ! [ hoiding
subsidiary 1010, New Zealand
. 9 Rafifles Place, #12-
GDL Halels Japan Pe, td. 40% A:::::LT . :i"p‘;“c of 01 RepubicPlaza,  tnvestment howting
u 9 rgapore Singzpore 043619
7800 East Union
Indirect Avenue, Suite S0 Hotel nvestment
CDOL Hotels USA, Inc. s , :
100% subsidiary usA Denver, Coloradn, holding Company
80237
. Level 13, 280 Queen
COL irvestments New Zealand | imited 509 '"1’;?;' New Zealand  Street, Auckland ""’““'"‘r’“""‘:'l"d fn"’p:"y
sunsiqiary 1010, New Zealand management company
. Level 13, 280 Queen .
COL Land New Zealand Limited sa%  ndves NewZealand  Streel, Auckiand Froperty Invesiment and
Y 1010, New Zealand P
7300 East Unign
Indirect Avenue, Suite 500,
COL West 45th Street E
L. West 45th Street LLC 100% subsidiary USA Denver, Colosada, Hotel owner
20237
7900 East Union
. . Indirect Avenue, Suite 500 .
Ch Hatel Hold| :
icago Hal cldings, ing. 100% supsidiary usa Denver. Coloradg, Hotel ownership
80237
7900 East Unicn
innak Indirect Avenue, Suile 5Q0 .
Cincinnaa S |. Co. ' '
100% subsidiary USA Denver, Colorado, Previously hotel owner
80237
Indirect Republicof Raffes Place #12-
City Century Pte. Ltd. 100% i . "‘; 01 Republic Flaza Restadrateur
subsidiary ngapare Singapone 048619
Indireet Republicof o ames Place #12.
City Etite P1e Ltd wen e St O1RepudlcPlaza  Resiawatew
r ngapa Singapore 048819
. " 9 Raffles Place #12-
City Hatels Pt Lid. 100% ’"“.::.' 2;":"'“ o 01 Republic Plaza ::fa';"”:::l;:d
subsidiary 98PA  gigepore 048512 9
Indirect Level 13, 280 Queen
Context Securitios Limited T6% bsidi Mew Zealand  Street, Auckiand Invastment holding
subsdlary 1010, New Zealand
Corporate
o . Headquarters,
. . Indtrect United
Copthorme {Nomin
P e { ees) Limited 100% subsidiary Kingdom Scarsdale Place, Investment hoiding

Kensington, London
W8 558Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Country of Registered office
incomporation  address

Corporate
Inctirect United Headquaners,
Copthorne Aberdeen Limited 83% subsidiary Kingdom Scarsdale Place, Hotel management
Kensington, London
Wwa 55Y

Corporate
Indirect United Headguartars,

Copthome Hotel {Binmingham) Limited 100% subs:ia Kingdom Searsdale Place,
uosidiary g Kensinglon, London

wa 58y

Cuorporate
Ingirect United Headquanters,

i i e P
Coptharme Hotel {Cardiff) Limited 100% subsidrary Kingcom Scarsda'e Place,
Kensingtaon, London

W 55Y

Corporate
. " Headquarters,
Copthome Hatel (Effingham Park) Limited 100%  roveet el Scarsdale Place,
Y g Kensington, London
wa 55Y

Corporate
. ; Headquarters,
Capthome Hote! {Gabwick) Limited 100% :‘d;;‘.:,'a :'i"“:m Scarsdale Place,
ubsiliary g Kensington, London
Ww§ 58y
Corporate

. . . Headquarters,
Copthorna Hotel (Manchester) Limited 100% mh’se::a ::led: . Scarsdate Place, :oaz lo[:ner and
¥ g Kensington, London pe!

Wg 55Y
Corporate
Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, Landon
Wg 58Y
Corporate
' Headquarters,
Copthome Hate! (Merry Hil) Limited 1go%  ndrect Urited Scarsdale Place.
subsidiary Kingdom N
Kensington, Landan
W8 55Y

Corporate
Headquarters,
Copthorme Malel (Newcastle) Limied 6% mmreic.‘ U,n iad Scarsdate Place,
subsidiary Kingdom .
Kensington, Landon
W8 55Y
Carparate

Indrect United Headquarters. Hotel awner and
Copthorne Hotel (Plymouth) Limited 100% s t:;?: Ki Scarsdale Flace. L eratorw *
u iary ingtom Kensington, Lenden P

Wa 58Y
Corporate
Indirect United Headquarters.

Copthome Hotel (Slough) Limited 100% . Scarsdale Place,
9 subsidiary Kingdom Kensingtcn, Landan

W 58Y

Corporate
Direct United Headquarters,

Copthome Hotel Holdings Lirnted 100% subsIdiary Kingdom Scarsdale Place. Investment holding

Kensington, Lendon

wa 58Y

Corporate

" Indirect Urited Headauarters.

Copthoarne Hatels Limited 100% subsidiary Kingdom Scarsdaic Place. Hotal nvesiment holding

Kensington, Londan
WB 58Y
9 Raffles Prace #12-
01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619
12th Fioar , Menara
Symphany , No. 5,

indirect Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay

Copthame Orchid Penang Sdn. Bha. 100% subsidiary Malaysia Kim, Seksyen 13, Hotel owner

45200 Petaling Jaya,

Selangor Darul Ehsan,

Mataysia

Sharcholding . .
Princapal Actvill
percentage nNCIpal viltes

Fult Name Typﬁ

Hotel owner and
operator

Hotel owner and
operator

Hotel owner and
aperatar

Hotel owner and
operalor

Hotel owner and
cperator

Indfirect United

Hotel (M Hil) C i arnit
Copthame Hotel {(Menry Hill) Construction Limited 100% subsidiary Kingdom

Hotel owner and
operator

Hotel owner and
operator

Hotel owner and
operator

Property owner and
Developer

Indirect Republic of

Copthome Orchid Hotel Singapore Ple. Ltg. 100% subsidiary Singapare
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Full Namme

Sharehoiding
percenmage

Type

Country of
ncorporalian

Registered affice
address

Pnncipal Actvities

Diplomat Hotel Holding Limited

Durham Operating Parnership L.P

Efte Hotel Management Services Pte. Lid.

Fergurson Hotel Management Limited

Fust 2000 Limited

First Spanser Growp Limited

Five Star Assurance. Inc.

Four Peaks Management Company

Gateway Holdings Corporation |

Gateway Matel Holdings. Inc.

Gateway Regal Holdings LLC

Grand Plaza Hatel Corporation

Harbour Land Corporation

Harbour View Hotel Pte. Lid.
Hamraw Enlertainment Pte Lid
Hang Lecng Ginza TMK

Hong Leong Hotel Development Limited

Hong Leong Hoteis Ple Lid.

Hong Leong International Hotel {Singapare) Pla. Lid

Haosgitality Group Limited

100%

100%

100%

50%

100%

35%

100%

100%

0%

100%

66%

41%

100%

100%

0%

84%

100%

37%

76%

Indirect
subsidiary

ndirect
subsidiary

Indirect
subsidiary

Associated
undertakings

indirect
subsidiary

Associaled
undertakings

Indirect
subsisary

Indirect
subsidiary

indirect
subsidiary

Indirect
subsidary

Indirect
subsidiary

Indirect

subsidiary

Associated
undertakings

Indirect
subsidiary

Ingirect
subsidiary

indirect
subsidiary

Indirect
subsidiary

Indirect
subsidiary

Indirect
Subsidiary

Indirect
subsidiary

United
Kingdom

USA

Republic of
Singapore

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Cayman
tslands

USA

uUsSa

usA

UsA

USA

Philippines

Philippings

Republic of
Singepore

Republic of
Singapore

Japan

Taiwan

Cayman
Islands

Republic of
Singapare

New Zealand

Corparate
Headguartars,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensinglon, London
Wwa 55Y

7900 East Union
Avenue. Suite 500,
Denver, Colgrado,
B0237

9 Raffles Place #12-
01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619
Urit 606, 6th Floor,
Alliance Building,132
Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong
2803 Great Eagle
Centre, 23 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong

P.OBox 31119,
Grand Pavilion,
Hibiseus Way, 802
West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, KY1-
1205 Cayman Islands.

1401 Eye St NW,
Suite 600, Washington

investment haiding

Hotet ownership

Hotel managememn
censuitancy services

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment Holding

Captive insurance

0.€. 20005 Campany

7900 East Linion

Avenue, Suite 300, Arizena condaminium
Denver, C . Manag: ot

80237

7900 East Union

Avenus, Suite 500G, Holding company

Denver, Colorada,
80237

7900 East Union
Avenue, Suite 500,
Denver. Colorado.
80237

7900 East Union
Avenue, Suite 500,
Denver, Colorado,
80237 )

10 Floor, Heritage
Hotel Manila, EDSA
comer Roxas
Boulevard, Pasay
City. Philippines 1200
10 Floor, Heritage
Hatel Manita, EDSA
camer Roxas
Boulevard, Pasay
City, Philippines 1300
S Raffles Place #12-
01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

S Raffles Place #12-
Q1 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619
4-1 Nihonbashi 1-
chome, Chuo-ku,
Takyo, Japan

2 Song Shou Read,
Xiryi District, Taipei
11091, Taiwan

PO Box 304 Ugland
House, Grand
Cayman, Ky1-1104
Cayman tslands

9 Raffies Place #12-
01 Republic Plaza
Singapore (048619
Level 13, 280 Queen
Street, Auckland
1010, New Zealand.

Hotel ownership

Hotel owner and
cperator

Hotel owner and
operator and investrment
holding company

Land cwner

Hotet operator

Investmeant holding

Property owner

Hotel owner and
operator

tnvestment holding

Investment hofding

Holding company and
property owner
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Sharehoiding Country of Regislered office . ti
Full Name percaniage Type n cation  address Prncipal Actwities
" Republic of 9 Raffles Place #12-
Hospitality Holtings Pte Lid 100% "“::’;; Pk 01RepubicPlaza  Investment hoiding
subsiciary ngapo Singapcre 048519
. Level 13, 280 Queen
Hospitality Leases Limited 6% “";’:;‘ New Zealand  Streel. Aucand Lessee company
subsidiary 1610, New Zealand
indiregt Level 13, 280 Queen  Hotel operation/
Hospitality Seryices Limited T6% ‘::: New Zealand  Street. Aucidand Management
subsidiary 1010, New Zealand  Investrent holding
Indirect Repubic of 4 Raffles Piace #12-
Hospitality Ventures Pe. Ltd 100% ':“'::Ia slnpa e 01 Reputaic Plaza investment hotging
s Y gapa Singapare 048619
Corpurate
Headquatters,
. ndirect Unted .
Hotel Liverpaol Limited 100% sut:;a Koo Searsdale Place, Property letting
Y g Kensingtcn, London
W8 58Y
Corporate
) ) Headquarters.
Hotel Liverposl Management Limited 100% L’:‘:’s‘i’::a zi’""“im Scarsdale Place, Operating company
v g Kensingtan, London
wa 55Y
Suite 7B. Zenith
ndirect . Residences, 82-94
Hotelcorp New Zealand Pty. Ltd. 76% " ut':: Ausiralia Daringhurst Rosd,  Holding campany
subsidiary Fotts Point, Sydney
2011, Australia
Indirect Level 13, 280 Queen
KIN Hetdings Limited 76% S'L‘;'::ia New Zealand  Street, Auckiand Holding company
Y 1010, New Zealand.
Indirect Republic of 9 Ratfles Place #12-
Kimg's Tanglin Shapping Pte. Lid 100% s’:’;: ciary Si"ga pore 01 Republic Plaza Property owrar

Singapore 048619
Suite 78, Zenith
Residences. 82-94

Kingsgate Holdings Pty. L. 76% ;"L:;;?;’W Australia Daringhurs! Road,
Pelts Point, Sydnay
2011, Australia
Suite 78, Zenith
Residences, 82-94
Kingsgate Hotel Pty Lid 76% Indtrect Austratiz Dartinghurst Road,
subsidiary Patts Paint, Sydney
2011, Australia
. Level 13, 280 Queen
Kingsgate Hotels and Resorts Limited 76% l:.f::il.-m New Zealand  Sireet, Auckland
1010, New Zealana.
. Level 13, 280 Queen
indirect

Kingsgate Hotels Limited 76% o New Zealand  Street, Auckland
subsidisry 1010, New Zealand.
ingirsct Level 13, 280 Queen

Kingsgate Intetnahonal Corporation Limited 76% New Zealand  Street, Auckiand

subsidiary 1010, New Zealand
Suite 7B. Zenith
Inci Residences, §2-94
Kingsgate Investments Pry. Lid. 76% "db':c.' Austrelia Darlinghurst Road,
subsidiary Potts Point, Sydney
2011, Australa
7900 £asi Union
) R Indirect Avenue, Suite 500,
Lakeside Operating Partnership L.P. 100% subsidiary usa Denver, Golorado,
80237
Corporate
. Headguarters,
London Brtannia Hotel Limied 100% ‘"d"e;; ;’::;‘:m Scarsdale Flace,
subsidiary Kensington, London
w§g 58Y
Corporate
| Headquarters,
London Tara Hotel Limited 100% Jnd;;e:!a zw'zdum Scarsdale Place,
supsidiary g Kensinglon, Londen
WE 55Y
Corporate
Disect United Headquaners.
- ] L k
MAC Asia Finance (UK} Limited 100% subsidiary Kirgdom Scarsdale Place,

Kensington, London
W8 S8Y

Haolding company

Dormant

Franchise holder
{Kingsgate)

Dormant

Investment halding

invesiment company

Hotel gwrership

Hotel owner

Holel ownrer and
cperator

Finance company
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Full Name Shargholding Type .Cuuntry of
percentage fncorporaticn
MAG Asia Hoidings (UK] Limited tcom  Oreet Untted
subsidiary Kingdomn
o Indirect United
M & C (CB) Limited 9
ca 100% subsidiary Kingdom
.- Indirect United
M & C{CD) Limited
o 100% subsidiary Kingdom
M & C Management Services (USA] Inc 100% Indircet usa
subsidiary
M & C NZ Limited 1g0%  mdirect United
subsidiary Kingdom
M & C Reservahons Servi imil idirect United
ervices Limited 100% subsidiary Kingcom
M&C Business Trust Ma t Limiled indirect Republic of
nagement Limi 100% subsidiary Singapore
MEC Capital Pte. Lic. 100% indirect Repudic of
subsidiary Singzpore
. Indirect
M&C Coloradc Hatel Corporation A
po 100% subsidiary us
MAC Crascent Corporation 100% |Hdiﬂ?§t USA
subsidiary
M&C Crescent Interests, LG 100%  Indirect usa
subsidiary
. .- Ingirect United
MAC Finance (1) Limite,
! n d 100% S sidiary Kinggom
M&L Holdings (Thailand) Lid. 100% Indirect Thailand
subsidiary
M&C Holdings Delaware Partnership W00% Indirect USA
subsidiary
MAC Hoidings. LLC 100y et usA
subsidiary
MAC Hotel Enterprises [Asia) Limi Indirect
lotel Enterprises {Asia) Limited 100% subsidiary Heong Keng
Indirect
M&C Hote! interests, Inc, 100% - usa
subsidiary
MAC Hotel Investments Pte. Ltd. 100% Indirec_t Rgpublic of
substdiary Singapore

Registared office
address

Principal Activities

Corporate
Headquarters,
Scarsoale Place,
Kensington, London
wa 58Y

Corporate
Hcadquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, Landon
wa 53Y

Corporate
Headquaners,
Scarsdale Place.
Kensingtan, Londen
W8 55Y

7800 East Union
Avenua, Suite 500,
Denver, Cotarado,
BO237

Corporate
Heacdquarters.
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, Lendon
Wa s8Y

Corporate
Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington. London
W8 58Y

9 Raffies Place #12-
01 Republic Plaza
Singapare 048613

9 Rafftes Place #12-
01 Repubbe Plaza
Singapore 048619
7800 East Union
Averue, Suite 500.
Denver, Colorado,
20237

7900 East Union
Avenue, Suite 500,
Denvar, Colorado,
80237

7900 East Unicn
Avenue, Suite 500,
Oenver, Colorado,
80237

Corporate
Headquarers,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London
W8 55y

991, 11th Fleer, BJC
Tower, Sai Saeng
Chan-Rubia,
Phrakanong
Klangtoey, Bangkok,
Thailand

7900 East Union
Avenue, Suite 500,
Denver, Colorada,
80237

7900 East Union
Avenue, Suite 500,
Denver, Colorado,
80237

2803 Great Eagle
Centre, 23 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong

7800 East Union
Avenue, Suite 500,
Daenver, Cotorado,
20237

9 Raffles Place #12-
01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

tnivestment hoiding

Investrment company

investment holding

Managemant services
company

Hglding company

Provider of reservation
saervices to hotel ownersg
and operalors

Provision of property
fund management
services

Investment holding

Ho!ding company

Investment holding

Property awner

Finance company

Hotel Management
Services

Progerty investment

Helding company

investment hoiding

Haote! management
services company lnve

Investment holding
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Full Name Shareholding Country of Registered office . .
percentage Type incorporation  address Prncipal Actuities
indurect 12 Boutevard
M&C Hotels France Managamant SARL 100% ndsrect France Haussmann, 75003  Management campany
subsidiary
Pans. France
Indirect 12 Boulevard
ME&C Haotels France SAS 100% neirect France Haussmann, 75009 Hotel bwner
. subsidiary
Pans France
Indirect Repubiic af 9 Raffles Place, #12-
M&C Hotels Haigings Japan Pie. Lid. 100% n ‘;;e;: si pu . 01 Republic Ptaza. Investment halding
subsiaiary nGapo Singapore 048613
Comorate
_ Direct United Headquarters,
MAC Hotels Haldings Limited 100% ":s‘?c. i ‘: " Scarsdale Place, Investrment haiding
Subsiciary ngdo Kensington, London
W8 ssY
PO Box 309 Ugland
M&C Hotels Haldings USA Lirmited 9 Dirset Cayman House,
as ! 100% subsidiary Islands Grand Cayman, KY1- Investment hoiding
1104 Cayman fslands
Indirect 12 Boulevara
MA&C Hotels Partnership France SNC 100% o France Haussmarnn, 75009 Investment holding
substdiary .
Paris, France
2803 Great Eagle
ME&C Hospitality Holdi A imited Indirect Centre, 23 Harbour
pitality Holdings (Asia) Limite 100% subsidiary Hang Kong Road, Wanchal, Hong investrment holding
Kong
2803 Great Eagle
P . . Indirect Centre, 23 Harbour
MA&C Hospitatity International Limi .
rna ted 100% Subsidiary Hong Kong Roag, Wanchai, Hong Investment foiding
Kong
, 9 Raffles Place #12- )
M&C REIT Managemen Limited 1g0%  ndree Repuvlcaf o) popptic Plaza o) evestment
¥ gap Singapore 048619 managemernt services
7900 East Union
MAC New York (Times Square), LLC 100% Im:llrec‘t USA Avenue, Suite 500, Investment hoiding
subsidiary Denvar, Colerado,
80237
Corporate
. Headquarters.
MB&C New York Finance (UK) Limited 100% Indirect Linited Scarsdate Place, Finance company
subsidiary Kingdam i
Kensington, Landon
W3 55Y
78900 East Union
MEC New Yorx {Times Square) EAT 1 LLC 100y  Indrect usA Avenue, Suite S00. oy e
subsidiary Denver, Celorada,
80237
Corporate
) Direct United Headquarters,
M&C Singapare Finance (UK) Limited 100% ) Scarsdale Place, Finance company
subsidiafy Kingdom .
Kensington, London
w8 38Y
Carporate
; Direct Untted Headquarters.
M&C Singapore Holdings (UK) Limited 100% beidia Kingdom Scarsdate Place, Investment holding
sy Y 900 Kensington, London
W8 58Y
Corporate
) Indirect United Headquarters,
M&C Sponsorship Limited 160% subsidia Kingdom Scarsdale Place, Other service activities
o e Kensingtan, Lendon
W8 58Y
7900 East Urwan
McCormick Ranch O, ting Partrership L P. Indirect Avenue, Suile 500, "
perating Pa ip ) 100% subsidiary usa Denver. Colorado, Holel ownership
80237
7900 East Unon
MHM, Inc. Indirect Avenue, Suite 500,
100%  Cpsdiary  USA Denver, Colorada, ' 0" management
80237
7800 East Union
Millennium Bostonian, inc. Indirect Avenue, Suite 500,
1o00% subsidiary USA Denver, Colorado, Heiding company
80237
Comarate
Headquarters.
Millenrium & Copthgme (Austrian Holdings) Limited Direct United .
pthome (Austian ings) Lim 100% sulrsidiary Kingdom Scarsdale Place. Investment hotding

Kensington, London
w8 58Y
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Full Name Shareholding Country of Registered office Pring "
percentage Type incorporation  address rincipal Actieilies
Corporate
. : Headquarters,
Millennium & Copthome (Jersey Hoidings) Limited 100% fﬂd'r?':,‘ Uruted Scarsda'e Place, Holding company
subsidiary Kingdom X
Kensingtan, London
w8 55Y
) 2803 Great Eagle Investrment and
Miflennium & Copthome Holel Haldings (Hong Kang) Limited 100% Indirect Hong Kaong Cenire, 23 Haraur development of hotels
subsidiary Read, Wanchai, Hang
end hotel management
Kang
ncirac Canire, 23 marmour | Provisonof hoiel
Millennium & Copthorme Hotels (Hong Kang) Limited 100% ndiract Hong Kong antre, Jou management and
subsidiary Road, Wanchai, Hong .
consuliancy Services
Kong
indirect Level 13, 280 Queen
Mikennium & Copthome NZ Limiled % s NewZealand  Street, Auckland Name-holding
subsidiary
1010, New Zealand
Indirect FPeople's #1205, No. 5§11 Wei
Millennium & Copthome Hotets Management {Shanghai) Limited 100% n I;;;:'a Republic of Hoi Road, Shanghai Hote! management
SubsigaY  Ghna 200041, P.R. Ghina
indirect Level 13, 280 Queen Hotel 1 i
Millenniym & Coptharme Hotels New Zealand Limited 76% oy New Zealand  Street, Auckiand o, oo
subsiciary 1010, Naw Zealard ing Lompany
Suite 7B, Zenith )
. Residences, 82-94
. Indirect N .
Millennium & Copthorme Halels Ply. Lid. 76% . A l |8 ghurst Road, Name halding
¥ ¥ Potts Point, Sydney
2011, Australia
) " 9 Raffles Place #12-
Mifennium & Copthame international Limited 0% OTe e ol 01RepublicPlaza | e and resorts
ubsidiary apare Singapare 048519 anagaman
Corporate
Oirect United Headquarters, Pension trust acting on
Millennium & Copthorme Pension Trustee Limited 100% r:si o Ki ' d Scarsdale Place, behalf of company
su hary rgdom Kensington, Landen {rusiees
wa s8Y
Carporate
Diceet United Headquarters,
Millennium & Copthomne Share Trustees Limited 100% lhs‘d' Wiradom Scargdale Place, Share trustee compary
subsiciary g Kensington, London
W8 55Y
" . . Allée du Verger,
Millennium CDG Pans A% Indirect F 2 Hotel i
100%  subsidiary rence 95700 Raissy. France | 019! OPErator
Corporate
| Headquarters,
Millennium Hotel Hoidings EMEA Limited 100% et United Scarsdale Place, ~ Mwestment holding
subsidiary Kingdom .
Kensington, London
W8 55Y
Corporate
. Indrect United Headguarters. Management conlract
Millenrium Hotels & Resorts Services Limited 100% bsid Kinadom Scarsdale Place, halding campan
subsickary g Kensington, Londan g company
WB 55Y
Corporate
. . Headgquartars,
Millernium Hotels Eurosie Holdings Limited 100% D"::; &."":d Scaredate Place, Ivestment hatding
s ary ingdom Kensinglon, Lendan
wa 58Y
; " Indirect via Viltorio Venelo, n. .
Millennium Hotels taly Hol rl.
¥ Holdings S.r 100% subsidiary ltaty 70, Roma 00187, italy Halding company
Cormporate
. . Hoadquarters,
Millenmum Hotels Limuted 100% lr:lm a?“z:m Scarsdale Place, Investment holding
s i b Keasington, London
wa ssy
Indirect via Vitorio Veneto, n.
Milenmum Holels Palace M tS.rl. .
1 anagement S.r 100% subsidiary Italy 70, Roma 00187, ftaly Hotel operator
p Indirect Via Viltorio Veneto, n.
Miltenrium Hotels Prope .l .
perty S.r) 100%  cubsigary 'O 70.Rama 00187, ialy *ToPeny awner
Corporate
" " Headquarters
. § L Indirect United y
Mittennium Hatels (West rrited
(west Landon] Limi 100% subsidiary Kingdam Scarsdale Place, Proparty letting

Kensingicn, London
Wa 55y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

i Registered office . .
Full N Shareholding Country of gl .
ame percentage Type incorporation  address Principal Actvities
Camporate
. . Headquarters,
Millennium Haotels (West London) Manage menk Limited 100% I“dl"::: ::;d ™ Scarsdale Place, Hotel operator
su i Ingea Kensirgton, London
WB55Y
Corporate
, : Headquarters,
Millensium Hotels London Limited 0o Orect e Scarsdale Place, Investment hoiding
subsidiary ng Kensington, Londan
w8 55Y
\ndirect 1Z Boulevard
Miliennium Opera Pans SAS 100% n t::] France Haussmann, 75009 Hotel gperator
subsigiary Paris, France
Vistra Corporate
Service Centre,
. Associated Wickhams Cay I,
N hi
ew Uaity Haldings Ltd 50% undertakings sw Road Town, Tertcla, Investment htding
VG 1110, Brbsh Virgin
islands
7900 East Union Ta Ieage. marage. and
Assocated Avenue. Suite 560 otherwise deal with
New York Sign LLC 50% Socate usa B, Sulle 999, ertain advertising
undertakings Denver, Colorado, .
signage space at the
80237
Navotel hotel
" ) 9 Raffles Place #12-
Newbury investments Ple Ltd to0% st :;":"'::’ 01 Republic Flaza  Investment holding
subsidiary gap Singapore 048519
7900 East Union
Indirect Averue, Suite 500 3
Park . \
'ark Plaza Hatcl Corparation 100% subsidiary USA Denver, Colorado, Holding comparty
80237
Indirect 167 Main North Road,
Prestons Road Limited 17% irec . New Zealand  Christchurch 8140,  Service pravider
ciste New Zealand
Indirect Jalan Fachrudin 3,
PT. Millennium Sirin Jakarta Hotel 100% m t;:; Indonesia Jskarta 10250, Hotel owner
subsidiary Indorasia
Indirect Level 13, 280 Queen
QINZ (Anzac Avenue) Limited 76% n ;9:. New Zealand  Street, Auckland Hotel owner
subsidiary 1010, New Zeatand
\ngirect Level 13, 280 Queen
QINZ Holdings (New Zeaand) Limited 76% n ;::_ New Zealand  Street. Auckland Hoiding company
subsidiary 1010, New Zealand
Indirect Level 13, 28C Queen
Quantym Limited 76% " ;s'?:, Naw Zealand  Stresl, Auckland Holding compary
subsidiary 1010, New Zealand
7900 East Union
. Indirect Avenug, Suite 500
Rega Hok arpo! I ' '
egal Grand Holdings C. ration 100% subsidiary usa Denver, Colorado. Holding company
80237
7900 East Union
indirect Avenue, Suite 50C,
Reaa! . . .
ega! Harvest House LP 100% subsidiary usA Denver, Colorado. Hotel cwnership
80237
7900 East Union
Indirect Avenue, Suite 500
Regal ' '
egal Hotel Management inc 100% subsidiary USA Denver, Colorada, Holding comparny
BO237
Indirect Republic of 9 Rafftes Place #12-  Holel operator and
Repupilic Hotels & Resorts Limited 100% b’::_a Sm“” r: 01 Republc Plaza irvestment hoiding
subsidiary gapa Singapare 048619 company
" 9 Raffies Place #12-
Hepubic Icomic Hotel Ple. Lid. 100% "“db':;'a ;i“;::r:f 01 Repubic Plaza Viotel cperstor
subsiciary g Singapore 048619
7900 East Union
Indirect Avenua, Suite 500
RHH USA ) ! Hi
Cperatmg LLC 100% subsiciary Derwer, Colorada. otel owner
80237
7900 East Union
. Indirect Avenue, Sute 500
RHI A ' '
Boston Holgings Corporation 100% subsidiary us. Denver. o o Hotding company
80237
7900 East Unien
. Indirect Avenue, Suite 500, )
RHI '
Boston Haldings Corparatan || 100% subsidiary USA Denver, Colorado, Holding comparry
80237
7800 East Union
Indirect Avanue, Suite 500,
RHM 4 A . }
Aurcra LLC 00% subsiciary uUs, Denver, Colorado, Hotel owrership

80237
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Shareholding Country of Registered office . .
Full N 1A
ull Name percentage Type incorporation  address Principal Actvibes
7900 East Unan
. Indirect Avenue, Suite 500, .
RHM Hoidings Corporation | 100% subsidiary USA Denver. Colorado, Halding company
80207
7800 East Unian
Indirect Avenue, Suite 500, .
RHM Management L1.C 100% subsidiary USA Denver, Celarado. Hotel ownership
80237
7900 East Unian
indirect Avenue, Syite 500
RHKEM R ) : 1
anch LLC 100% subsidiary USA Denver, Gotorada, Hotel owner
80237
7900 East Union -t T -
Ingirect Avenue, Syite 500 ) .
RHM Wynfield LLC 100% subsidiery USA ‘Denver, Cotr_—.‘——orado. ~—Huotel-ownership
80237
7500 East Union
tnclirgat Avenue, Suite 500, Hotel owner and
RHM-E8,LLC 100% subsidiary usa Denver, Colorado, oparator
0237
7900 East Union
. . Indirect Avenue, Suite 500. .
field H i '
Richfield Holdngs Corporation 0% bsidiary OO Denwer, Colorado, ~ 'oiding company
80237
7900 East Union .
. . . Indirect Avenue, Suite 500 .
Richfield Hol 1] " '
ichfield Holdings Corporation 100% subsidiary usAa Denver, Calorado, Halding company
80237
7900 East Unign
Indirect Avenue, Suile 500, .
Rictifield Holdings, Inc 100% subsidiary UsA Denver, Colorade, Hotding company
80237
Indirect Regublic of 9 Raffles Place #12-
Rogo Investments Pte. Ltd. 100% h ;:.’; s{:": . 01 Republic Plaza Investment hoiding
subsidiary 9ap Singapors 048619
1Q Floor, Heritage
Associated Hotel Manita, EDSA
Rogo Reaity Comoration 24% " Philippines comer Roxas Reat estate cwner
undertakings
Baulevard, Pasay
City, Phitippines 1300
7900 East Union
. N Ingirect Avenue, Suite 500, . I
5.5, Restaurani Corporabion 100% subsidiary USA Denver, Colorado, Liguor Jicense halder
80227
7900 East Union
. : Indirect Avenue, Suite S00,
5t. Louis Operating, Inc. 100% subsidiary UsAa Denver. Colarado, Cormant
80237
7900 East Union
Indirect Avenue, Suite 500,
P . ‘ Hotel rsh
Sunnyvale Partners, Lid 100% subsidiary USA Derver, Calorado. otel ownership
80237
Registered at the
Trade register at the
lecal court of
Indirect Hannover with the Hotel nvestment
Tara Hotels Deutschiand GmbH 100% subsidiary Germany legal form of holding Company
. Private fimited
company (number
HRB 209133).
Clo Coson Cmnérale
Sarvices Limited,
Indirect Cumberland House
The Phil:ppime Fund Limited 60% t;; d Bermuda Sth Floor, 1 Investment holding
subsidiary Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda
- . S Ratfles Place #12-
TOSCAP Limited 100% '”"h';‘?: :.““""‘ ®  0fRepulicPlaza  tnvestment holding
subsidiary ingzpcre Singapore 048619
7900 East Union
. . Indirect Avenue, Suite 500, Hotel owner and
Trimark Hotet Corporation 100% subsidiary USA Dernwer, Colorado, operater
80237
7200 East Linion
' " indrect Avenue, Suite 500, Holel owner and
WHB Bitmore LLC 100% subsidiary U_SA Denver, Colorado, aperator
80237
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Sharghaiding Country of Registered office . -
Fult N
ult Name percentage Type mncorperation address Principal Activities
7900 East Union
. Indiract Avenug, Suite 500 -
H i ‘ ’
WHB Corporaton 100% subsidiary usa Denver. Caolorado. Holding company
80237
7900 East Unicn
: Ingirect Avenue, Suite 500, .
Wynfietld GP C. ti ' ‘ 1] hi
yie orporation 00% subsidiary usA Denver Coiorado, Halel ownership
80237
7900 East Union
Indiract Avenug, Suitg S00, .
Id One, Ltd s 8 H
Wypfield One 100% subsidiary usA Denver, Colarada, olding company
80237
9 Raffles Ptace #12-
100% :“::".,;; » gien’"m";:' 01Republic Plaza  Investmens halding
HsIdiary 9ap Singapore 048619
Syite 1, Ground Floor,
The Financal
y . . Indiract Services Centre .
Ion Hob te .
Zilion Hotdings Limited 100% subsidiary Barbados Bichogs Court Hill, St Investment halding
Michael, Barbados,
BB14004

CDL Hospitality Trusts (COLHT) is a stapled growp comprising COL Hospitality Real Estate Investment Trust (H-REIT), a real estate investment trusl, and COL
Hospitalty Business Trust (HBT), a business trust. H-REIT has an ir 1t gy of ir ting directly or indirectly, in a diversified pertfolio of income-
producing real estate which is primarily used for hospitality, hospitality-related and other accommodation and/or lodging purposes, whether whally or partiaily,
and reat-esiate related assets in refation to the foregaing.

HBT is a business rust which currently acts as masler lessee, asset owner and holel gperalor. HBT may atso undentake certain hospitality, hospitafity related
and other accommaodation andfor lodging davelopment projects, acquisiton and investrnents which may not be suilable for H-REIT.

Pricr to 24 May 2022, although the Group owned less than haif of the ownership interest and voting power in COLHT, management had determined thal the
Group had control over COLHT. The activities of H-REIT and HBT are managed by the Group's subsidiaries, M&C REIT germnent Limited {the “H-REIT
Manager”} and M&C Business Trust Management Limiled (the "HET Truslee-Manager”}). respectively The H-REIT Manager has decision-making authonty over
H-REIT, subject ic oversight by the trustee of H-REIT. The HBT Trustee-Manager has dual responsibility of safeguardng the interests of the HBT unitholders
and decision-making authority cver HBT. The Group's overall exposure lo variable returns, bath fom H-REIT Manager's and H8T Trustee-Manager's
remuneralion from H-REIT and HBT, respectively, together with its interest in COLHT, was signficarnt and any decisions made by H-REIT Manager and HBT
Trustee-Manager aftect the Group's ovarall exposure.

On 24 May 2022, the Group sold part of the COLHT units that it hefd. to the holding company, thereby reducing its interest in COUHT to 27% The Group has
1 that the reduction in In COLHT nas resulted in the Group no longer having controt of COLKT . Accordingly, COLHT was deconsolidated and
a for as an i a

The registered cifice address of MAC REIT Management Limited, Manager of H-REIT and M&C Business Trusl Managemnent Limited, Trustee-Manager of
HBT, is 9 Raffles Place #12-01 Republic Plaza Singapore 048619.

The Group has assessed the classification of its investmenis in First Sponsor Group Limited and New Unity Holdings Limited in accordance with IFRS10 and
concluded that it does not have control
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Exemption from statutory audit
Certain subsidiaries of the Group can take an exemption from having an audit completed. Strict criteria must be met for this exemption

Lisled below are subsidiaries controlled and consolidated by the Group, where the Direclors have elected to take the exemption from
having an audit of ther financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. This exemption is taken in accordance with

Companies Act s479A.

Archyield Limited (1747079)

COL Hutels {Chelsea) Limiled (2043022)

CDL Hotels (U.K.) Limited {2729520}

Copthome Hotel (Birmingham) Limited (1816493)
Copthome Hotel (Cardiff) Limited (2411296)

Copthorne Hatel (Effingham Park) Limited (1423861)
Copthorne Hotel {Gatwick) Limited (994968)

Copthome Hotel Holdings Limited (627049)

Copthorme Hotels Limited {(759611)

Copthorne Hotel (Manchester) Limited (1855800)

Copthome Hotel (Merry Hill) Construction Limited (2649367)
Copthorne Hotel (Merry Hill) Limited (25950620)

Copthorne Hotel (Plymouth) Limited (3253120)

Copthorne Hotel {Slcugh) Limited (2300992)

Copthome (Nominees) Limited {2574042)

Diplomat Hotel Holding Limited (1927463)

Hotel Liverpool Limited (353654 1)

Hotel Liverpocl Management Limited (9638688)

Landon Britannia Hotel Limited (0744379)

London Tara Hotel Limited (1005559)

M&C Asia Finance (UK) Limited (8391037)

M&C Asia Holdings (UK} Limited (8382946)

M&C (CB) Limited (3846711}

MA&C (CD) Limited (3846704)

M&C Finance (1) Limited (6783896)

M&C Hotels Holdings Limited (4407581)

M&C Management Holdings Limited (5832248)

M&C New York Finance (UK) Limited {S8060415)

M&C NZ Limited (5159722)

MA&C Reservation Services Limited (6754684)

M&C Singapore Finance (UK) Limited (8391052)

M&C Singapore Holdings (UK) Limited (8382985)

MA&C Sponsorship Limited (11349185}

Millenniem & Copthorne (Austrian Holdings) Limited (3757378)
Millennium & Copthorne (Jersey Holdings) Limited (5846574)
Millennium & Copthorne Pension Trustee Limited (6662791)
Millennium & Copthorne Share Trustees Limited (3320990)
Millennium Hotel Holdings EMEA Limited (4592877}
Millenniurm Hotels Limited (3141048)

Millennium Hotels Eurcpe Holdings Limited (8644747)
Mitlennium Hotels Landon Limited F(3691885)

Millennium Hotels {West London) Limited (8599282)
Millennium Hotels (West Londen) Management Limited (8891808)
Millennium Hotels & Resorts Services Limited (4601112)

Each company’s registered number is shown in brackets after its name.
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33 Non-controlling interests (“NCI™')

The following subsidiaries have material NCI.

OWHNERSHIP INTERESTS HELD

S—— BY NCI
PRINCIPAL PLACE QF
NAME BUSINESS/ COUNTRY OF PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 2022 2021
INCORFORATION
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Hotel investment holding
| - New Zealand % 9
Limited "MCHNZ") " company 24% 24%
CDL Hospitality Trusts {"CDLHT”) Singapore ﬁ::t' estate investment 73% 62%

CDLHT was deconsolidated and became an associate of the Group during the year.

The following is summarised financial information far MCHNZ and CDLHT, prepared in accordance with local accounting standards.
The information is before intercompany eliminations with other companies in the Group.

MCHNZ Subgroup CDLHT Subgroup
2022 2021 2022 2021
£m £m £m £m
Revenue 74 85 - B85
Profit afler tax 17 26 - 37
Profit attributable to NCI 4 6 N 23
Other comprehensive income/{expense) - - - (2)
Total comprehensive income 17 26 - 35
Total comprehensive income attributable to NCI 4 6 - 21
Current assets 111 113 - 94
Nan-current assets 259 232 i 1,511
Current liabilities (16) {19) - (262)
Non-current liabilities (18) {(13) . (441)
Net assets 336 313 - 902
Net assets attributable to NCI 80 75 - 555
Cash infiow from operating activities 14 15 - 34
Cash inflow/{outflow) from investing activities (58) 26 - (24)
Cash outflow from financing activities 7} (22) - (4)
Net increasa in cash and cash equivatents 1 19 - B
Dividends paid to NCI during the year' 2 (2) - -
1 Included in cash flows from financing activities.
34 Loss of control and deconsolidation of CDLHT

The control over COLHT was reviewed and considered it has de facto control over its investees when it owned less than 50% of the
vating rights. During the financial year 2022, the Group sold part of the COLHT unils that it held to the holding company, thereby
reducing its interest in COLHT to 27.3% (2021: 38.89%). The Group has assessed thal the reduction in interest in COLHT has resulted
in the Group no longer having control of CDLHT. Accordingly, COLHT was deconsolidated from 24 May 2022 and accounted for as an
assaciale thereafter, resulting in a gain of £84m.

Gain on disposal of units in COLHT £m
Procead —5
NCI, based on their proportionate interest in the net assets distributed 384
Fair value of retained equity interest 252
Total consideration Taq
Carrying amount of net assets distributed (570)
Realisation of translation reserve (90)
‘Gain on disposal of subsidiary LY.y

As a result of deconsolidation of CDLHT, the Group has lost control over net assets of £570m attributable to COLHT, this is measured
at the carrying value as at 24 May 2022 when the entity was been deconsclidated.
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Net assets as at 24 May 2022 £m

Non Current Assets 1,265
Current Assets 70
Cument Liabilities (225)
Non Current Liabilities (540}
Net assels 570
a5 Assets held for sale

The following were classified as assels held for sale in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022:

Assets held for sale relates to the proposed disposal of Miltennium Harvest House Boulder. The property has a total carrying vaiue of
US$ 10m {(£9m) and is held under the "Regionat US"” Segment as disclosed in the note 5.

The following were classifi ed as assets held for sale in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021:
The abave mentioned proposed disposal of Millennium Harvest House Bouider.
The disposal of Copthorne Orchid Penang was expected to be completed during Q2 2021. The property has a totat
carrying value of MYR48m (£9m) and is held under the “"Rest of Asia" segment as disclosed in Note 5. However, the
agreement entered into for the sale of Copthorne Orchid Penang was terminated in December 2021 and the Group
continues to explore the sale of the property with other prospective buyers. During 2022, the Group ceased to explore
further sale opportunities ard the property has been reclassified to proparty, plant and equipment.

36 Adoption of IFRS 16 'leases’
The Group adopted IFRS 16 with an initial applacatlon date of 1 January 2019

The Group as a lessee
The Group's leases consist primarily of land & buildings and plant & machinery. Information about leases for which the Group is a
lessee is presented below.

2022 2021
NOTES £m £m
Amounts recognised in the income statement
Depreciation 6, 11
— Land and buildings 13 7
— Plant and machinery 1 1
Interest on lease liablities 9 12 5
Total 26 13
FIXTURES,
NOTES  CUUONGS  WACHNZRY EQUIMENT  PROPERTES TatAL
AND VEHICLES
£m £m £€m £m £m
Right-of-use assets
Carrying amaunt on 1 January 2021 220 1 - 7 298
Additions 4 - - - 4
Depreciation N (1) - - 8
Disposals 3 - - - (3
Foreign exchange adjustrments 1 - - - 1
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 215 - - T 222
Additions 327 - - 1 328
Acquisition of subsidiary - - - 20 20
Depreciation (14) - - - (14}
Disposal of subsidiary (105) - - (2N (132)
Written off Q)] - - - n
Foreign exchange adjustments 26 - - - 26
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 11, 12 448 - - 1 449
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2022 2021
£m £m

Lease liabilities -
Current 12 a
Non-current 410 131
Total 422 135

The total cash outflow for leases during the current year was £20m (2021 £10m).

As part of the adoption in 2019, lease liabilities were determined by discounting the reievant lease payments at the Group’s incremental

borrowing rate of between 0.9% and 14 6% in Asia, 1 9% to 3.5% in UK/EU and 3.0% to 5.5% in the US.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Notes £en £m
Non-current assets
Investments and other financial assets {E) 2,378 2,281
Deferred tax asset 2 2
2,380 2283
Current aggets
Amaounts awed by subsidiary undertakings falling due within ane year 126 144
Other receivables 15 16
Cash and cash equivalents 9 7
150 167
DOther current liabilities {F) {530) (353)
Net currant liabilities {380) {186)
Other non-current liabilities (G) {572) {685)
Net assets 1,428 1,412
Equity
Called up share capital (H) 97 a7
Share premium 843 843
Retained earnings 492 476
Treasury share reserve (4) {4)
Total equity 1,428 1.412

The notes on pages 75 to 77 are an integral part of these Company’s financial statements.

Thesgfinancial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 02 August 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

Kwek Eik Sheng
Cirector

Registered No: 03004377
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2022

SHARE TREASURY

CapiTaL SHAREPREMIUM . ' crrvg RETAINED EARNINGS  TOTAL EQUITY

. £m £m £m £m £

Balance at 1 January 2021 97 843 (4) 467 1,403
Profit - - - 7 7
Other comprehensive income - - - 2 2
Total comprehensive income - - - 9 ]
Dividends - N N R _
Balance at 31 December 2021 97 843 (4} 476 1,412
Balance at 1 January 2022 97 843 {4) 476 1,412
Profit - - - 10 10
Other comprehensive Income . - - [ [
Total comprehensive income - - - 16 16
Dividends - - - - .
Balance at 31 December 2022 97 843 (4) 492 1,428

The notes on pages 75 - 76 are an integral parnt of these Company's financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with FRS 101

The parent company financial staterments of Millennium and Copthormne Hotels Limited (‘the Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2022
were authorised for issue by the board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 02 August 2023. The Company is incorporated and damiciied in
England and Wales.

These financial stalements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101).
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companias Act 2006, the income statement of the Company is not presented as part of the financial
statements.

The Company's resuits are included in the consalidated financial statements of Millennium and Copthorne Hatels Limited which are available
from the Group’s website www. millenniumhaotels.com.

The accounting policies which follow set cut those policies which apply in preparing the financial statemants for the year ended 31 December
2022. The financial statements are prepared in Sterling and are rounded to the nearest million except when ctherwise indicated.

B. Accounting policies

In preparing these financial statements of the parent company financial statements of Millennium and Copthomne Limited, the Company applies
the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of intemational accounting standards in accordance with UK-adopted internationat
accounting standards (“UK-adopted IFRS"). Making amendments where necessary in order 1o comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set
out betow where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the following disclosures:

* Cash Flow Statement and related notes,

+ Disclosures in raspect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel;
+ Equity seltled share-based payments

+ Financia! instruments

The Company early adopted FRS 101 amendments before the effective date of 1 January 2016 regarding the presentation of financial
statements in compliance with the IAS 1 farmat.

The accounting pelicies adopted for the parent company been applied consistently to all periods presented and with those used for the Group.

C. Dividends
Details of dividends paid and proposed in the current and pricr year are given in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements

0. Profit attributable to members of the parent company
The profit dealt with in the financial statements of the Company is £10m (2021 profit of £7m).

E Investments and other Financizl Assets
SHARES IN LOANS TO
SUBSIDIARY sussiDiARY  OROUF gs&';ﬁns TOTAL
UNDERTAKINGS  UNDERTAKINGS
£m £m £m £m
Cast and net book value at 1 January 2022 1,887 as7 7 2,281
Additions - 8 - 8
Foreign exchange adjustments . 14 75 - 89
Cost and net book value at 31 December 2022 1,904 470 7 2,378
F. char current liabilities
2022 2021
-— £m £m,
Bank loans and overdrafts 443 270
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 79 73
Other payables 7 9
Accruals and deferred income 1 1
530 353
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Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited
As at 31 December 2022

G. Other non-current liabilities
2022 2021
£m_ £m
Bark lcans 165 N7
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 397 360
Net employee defined benefit liabilities 10 8
572 685
Other non-current liabilitins are repayatble as follows: -
2022 2021
£m £m
Between one and two years 165 60
Between two and five years 407 646
572 706

H. Share capital
Detaits of the Company’s share capital are given in Note 27 1o the consofidated financial statements.

I Related parties

For the year ended 31 December 2022, fees paid/payable by the Company to Hong Leong #Management Services, a subsidiary of Hong Leong

Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. amounted to £nil (2021: £nil). At 31 December 2022, £nil {2021: £nil) of fees payable was outstanding.
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